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F R O M  T H E  E D I T O R - I N - C H I E F

In 2003, on the occasion of the inaugural issue of this publication, the Society’s founders,  
Judith S. Kaye and Albert M. Rosenblatt, declared that our mission was to “cast the net” for 
historical “riches” about New York’s courts. I am pleased to say that the issue of Judicial Notice  
you now hold in your hands lives up to that standard.  

In the pages that follow, you will find original scholarship about significant moments, figures 
and symbols in New York history.

While the riches you will read about in these pages are largely centered on scholarly history, 
we are privileged as well, as members of the Society, to enjoy a remarkable personal collegiality; we 
begin this issue with a review of our Galas, honoring three pillars of our court system: the judges, 
the lawyers, and the court staff.

Paul McGrath gives us a fresh look at People v. Croswell (1804) — a seminal case in the 
evolution of defamation law, and the forum for one of Alexander Hamilton’s finest courtroom 
performances.

David Sheridan tells the story of the most consequential election law cases in New York history, 
stemming from the 1891 state senatorial election. The stakes were high, as the litigation’s outcome 
determined which of the two major political parties held majority control of the upper house of the 
Legislature.

We also feature a biography about New York’s 30th Chief Judge, Charles D. Breitel. Written by 
a former law clerk, James W.B. Benkard, this piece provides new insights into the life and career of 
one our most distinguished jurists.       

A few years ago, in an effort to reach out to young New Yorkers, the Society launched, with the 
support of Barry and Gloria Garfinkel, an essay contest for community college students across the 
State. We are happy to present the winning essays for 2009 and 2010: The Evolution of Justice Along 
the Erie Canal and The New Netherland Legal System and Law in 21st Century New York.

We thank all of our authors for sharing their love of legal history. We are confident that you 
will be enlightened and entertained by their efforts.

Henry M. Greenberg, Editor-in-Chief
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T his issue opens on a light note 
by recounting history of another 
sort—the history of our five gala 
dinners, honoring pillars of the 

New York State court system: the judges, the 
lawyers, and the court staff.

The by now well-established tradition 
of gathering several hundred in a mag-
nificent New York City venue to reflect on, 
and honor, the State court system actually 
began in Spring 2007, at historic down-
town Banking Hall, with all of the then-
former Court of Appeals Judges: Joseph W. 
Bellacosa, Stewart F. Hancock, Jr., Howard 
A. Levine, Albert M. Rosenblatt, Richard D. 
Simons, George Bundy Smith, Sol Wachtler, 
and Richard C. Wesley.

The judiciary was also the subject of 
the Spring 2009 gala honoring former Chief 
Judge Judith S. Kaye, at Gotham Hall, when 
she recounted the history of Lady Justice, 
including the uniqueness of New York, 
among the original 13 states, in adopting 
Lady Justice, as well as Lady Liberty, as part 
of its official seal.  In Spring 2010, at the 
New York Public Library, we toasted our 
great new Chief Judge, Jonathan Lippman, 
and were treated not only to his observa-
tions about his new role but also to lessons 
in the art of “Lippmanizing,” his colleagues’ 
description of his gentle, effective powers of 
persuasion.

In Spring 2011, again at the New York 
Public Library, we saluted the extraordinary 
New York Bar through the guest of honor 
Roy L. Reardon (of Simpson, Thatcher & 
Bartlett), “A Man for all Seasons.” That title 
indeed captures what is best about the New 

York Bar, as Roy Reardon does, bringing 
together the qualities of a first-rate profes-

A Gala Opening Statement

2007, left to right: Hon. Stewart F. Hancock, Hon. Richard 
D. Simons, Hon. George Bundy Smith, Hon. Richard C. Wes-
ley, Hon. Judith S. Kaye, Hon. Albert M. Rosenblatt, Hon. 
Howard A. Levine, Hon. Sol Wachtler and Hon. Joseph W. 
Bellacosa.

2008, New York County Clerk Norman  
Goodman and New York County Courthouse.
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sional, whether by effective representation of the 
interests of clients or by leadership in efforts to 
assure high professional standards and the bet-
terment of society.  As with the other galas, the 
participation of  family—most especially the lov-
ing tributes of Roy’s wife (Pat Hynes) and grand-
daughter—reminded us of the essential support of 
our families in all that we do.  

The same glow of pride in the New York courts 
prevailed at midtown Cipriani in Spring 2008, 
when the Historical Society celebrated the fortieth 
anniversary of our remarkable New York County 
Clerk, Norman Goodman, and the eightieth 
anniversary of our remarkable New York County 
Courthouse. As we honor those who administer 
justice in the State of New York, we are every day 
reminded of the wisdom of the words inscribed on 
the Courthouse façade: “The true administration of 
justice is the firmest pillar of good government.”

Delightful as it is to attend and to describe 
these galas (in words and photos), in fact they 
provide the bedrock funding—along with Member 
support—for the many terrific programs and pub-
lications the Society sponsors throughout the year.  

2009, Chief Judge Judith S. Kaye

2010, Chief Judge Jonathan Lippman2011, Roy L. Reardon
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IT IS JANUARY 1803 and the young United 
States, now in its third presidential administra-
tion, is in the throes of major partisan political 
intrigue. The recently-elected administration of 

Thomas Jefferson seeks to exact some revenge upon 
the Federalists for their prosecution of Republican 
journalists under the notorious Sedition Act of 1798. 
Sentiments are running high and Jefferson sends out 
the word that “a few prosecutions” in the states under 
the common law of seditious libel might help cer-
tain obnoxious newspaper editors behave and strike 
a blow against the Federalists.

1
 Armed with their 

orders, the New York State Republican Party, led by 
George and DeWitt Clinton, looks for a local target 
to prosecute. In the bustling Columbia County City 
of Hudson, the Republicans find their man: Harry 
Croswell, the young editor of the upstart weekly 
Federalist newspaper, The Wasp. The ensuing criminal 
proceeding, People v. Croswell, would become a semi-
nal case in the development of the law of seditious 
libel in America, provide the vehicle for Alexander 
Hamilton to make his last stirring argument in favor 
of individual liberty and journalistic candor and, 
perhaps indirectly, help involve Hamilton in his fatal 
duel with Aaron Burr.

The Political Environment

A full appreciation of the Croswell prosecution 
requires some familiarity with the formation of the 
political party system in America. Although Americans 
had come together to defeat the British Empire in the 
Revolutionary War, it was not long after the war that 
these patriots began lining up on different sides of 

fundamental questions—e.g., what did the Revolution 
mean? And what should the new America look like? 
Although the key players would never have conceded 

that they belonged to political parties, every informed 
citizen knew that, as early as George Washington’s first 
term of office as President, two factions had arisen: 

People v. Croswell:
Alexander Hamilton and the Transformation of the Common Law of Libel

f 

Harry Croswell (1778-1858) by Henry Inman, 1839  

Courtesy of Mead Art Museum, Amherst College  

Bequest of Herbert L. Pratt (Class of 1895), AC 1945.12 

PAUL McGRATH

Paul McGrath is the Chief Court Attorney of the New York Court of Appeals in Albany where he supervises the Court’s Central Legal 
Research Staff. Prior to his promotion to Chief Court Attorney, Mr. McGrath worked as the Deputy Chief Court Attorney of the Court 
of Appeals and as a Law Clerk to Associate Judge Richard D. Simons. Mr. McGrath earned his J.D., magna cum laude, from the 
State University of New York at Buffalo School of Law and his B.A., magna cum laude, from the State University of New York Col-
lege at Geneseo.
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the Federalists, led by Alexander 
Hamilton, and the Anti-
Federalists, later to be known 
as the Democratic-Republicans 
or just Republicans, led by 
the principal author of the 
Declaration of Independence, 
Thomas Jefferson.

It is dangerous to oversim-
plify the points of contention, 
but it is fair to say that the two 
factions had differing ideas 
of what America should look 
like and how it should behave. 
Hamilton’s Federalists believed 
in an active national govern-
ment and sought to achieve 
this end by giving a loose 
construction to the limited 
powers ceded to the federal government by the U.S. 
Constitution. Federalists also believed in a standing 
army and their policies tended to support commercial 
interests. In furtherance of these interests, Hamilton 
created the first national bank. Federalists believed 
that it was permissible to align with Britain, America’s 
major trading partner, when necessary. Federalists 
also took a position of accommodation between the 
First Amendment’s religion clauses and the religious 
aspects familiar to post-revolutionary American life. 

The Republicans, in contrast, believed in a limit-
ed national government and favored policies tending 
to support states’ rights. To defend the new nation, 
the Republicans favored the states’ well-regulated 
militias over a standing national army, and their 
policies promoted agrarian interests at the expense 
of commercial endeavors. Above all, the Republicans 
detested the idea of a national bank. Although the 
Republicans agreed with the Federalists that it was 
best to avoid foreign alliances, their sympathies lay 
with France, which had been America’s ally during 
our War for Independence and, after 1789, was part 
of the class of revolutionary nations. The Republicans 
also believed in a solid wall between church and 
state. 

Although a member of Washington’s cabinet dur-
ing his first term, Jefferson gave at least tacit encour-

agement to Republican news-
papers to deflate and discredit 
the Washington administration 
which, in Jefferson’s opinion, was 
“galloping fast into a monarchy.”

2
 

Two of the leading journalists of 
the era were Philip Freneau and 
Benjamin Franklin Bache. They 
took aim at President Washington 
but, by the time he left office in 
March of 1797, he was approach-
ing a kind of canonization in the 
public mind, and they turned 
their attention against the alleged 
monarchist Hamilton, the de 
facto creator of the Federalist 
party, and against the nation’s 
second President, John Adams of 
Massachusetts. 

A notch in class below Freneau and Bache were 
William Duane and Scottish-born James Callender. 
Duane once published an editorial stating that 
Washington had “discharged the loathings of a 
sick mind.”

3
 In the Richmond Examiner, newspaper 

reporter Callender declared that “Mr. Washington has 
been twice a traitor” and called John Adams “a hoary 
headed incendiary.”

4
 In 1797, Callender publicly 

exposed Hamilton’s extramarital affair with Maria 
Reynolds, which had occurred in 1791-1792.

5
  

Fed up with the 
attacks on the private 
and public character 
of their leaders, the 
Federalists responded 
aggressively by passing 
the Alien and Sedition 
Acts of 1798. These 
Acts (actually four 
pieces of legislation) 
further incensed the 
Republicans and may 
have been the principal 
cause of the Federalist 
defeat in the national 
election of 1800. The 
first of these laws, The 

Philip Freneau, Engraving by Fredrick 

W. Halpin, 1865  Available at: http://

en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Philip_freneau.jpg 

Thomas Jefferson by Rembrandt Peale, 1800 

Available at: http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/

commons/1/1e/Thomas_Jefferson_by_Rembrandt_

Peale,_1800.jpg   The White House Historical Association 

(White House Collection) 

People v. Croswell
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Naturalization Act, extended the time a foreigner had 
to live in the United States before he or she could 
apply for citizenship.

6
 The two Alien Acts, com-

monly known as the Alien Friends Act and the Alien 
Enemies Act, gave the national government the power 
to expel any foreign-born person who was suspected 
of disloyalty.

7
 The Sedition Act empowered federal 

attorneys to arrest and prosecute for libel anyone who 
publicly criticized the President or any other official of 
the government.

8
 If convicted, the offender could be 

severely fined and imprisoned for up to two years. The 
Republicans opposed these laws because of their per-
nicious effects on civil liberties, but their main objec-
tion was that the laws had been passed by the federal 
government. Seizing on the literal wording of the First 
Amendment, “Congress shall make no law,” Jefferson, 
Madison, and other Republicans went so far as to 
persuade the states of Virginia and Kentucky to enact 
legislation purporting to “nullify” any law of Congress 
which the states considered to be unconstitutional. 

By May of 1800, Hamilton’s long-time nemesis, 
Aaron Burr, had galvanized New York City voters to 
elect Republicans. This shifted the balance of power 
to a Republican majority in the New York State 
Legislature, the body that sent New York’s presidential 
electors to the Electoral College. The New England 
states were solidly for Adams and the southern states 
for Jefferson, and as New York went, so went the 
nation. New York’s electoral votes propelled Jefferson 
to victory over Adams in the presidential election 
of 1800, the first seriously contested election in 
American history.

9

James Callender Turns On Jefferson

Now it was the turn of the Federalist journal-
ists to go on the offensive. Again to the forefront 
appeared James Callender. Once a loyal Jeffersonian, 
Callender did an abrupt about-face when Jefferson 
turned him down for the job of Federal Postal 
Inspector for Richmond, Virginia. In the Richmond 
Recorder, Callender wrote several damaging stories 
about the private and public character of the third 
President. First, Callender alleged, in the accepted 
vitriolic prose of the time, that Jefferson had fathered 
five mulatto children by his slave, Sally Hemings, at 
Monticello.

10
 Although DNA evidence now suggests 

that much of this allegation was true, it obviously 
could not be proven at the time. Second, Callender 
recounted a juicy tale of how Jefferson, before 
his marriage, had attempted to seduce Mrs. John 
Walker, the wife of a close friend.

11
 Finally, Callender 

attacked Jefferson’s public character by questioning 
his loyalty to George Washington. Callender revealed 
in print that, while he had been working on a pam-
phlet called The Prospect Before Us, he had been paid 
$100 by Jefferson to attack Washington, and that 
Jefferson had even read part of the manuscript before 
publication, returning it with a declaration that 

People v. Croswell

Mad Tom in a Rage, Henry F. Huntington Library and Art Gallery, Courtesy of 

American Heritage magazine for use in this publication only 
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“such papers cannot fail to produce the best effect; 
they inform the thinking part of the nation.”

12

Jefferson never responded directly to the claims 
about Hemings and Walker. However, because the 
allegation of double dealing against Washington was 
sure to cause political damage, Jefferson responded, 
perhaps somewhat lamely, that he had indeed sent 
$100 to Callender, but well after Callender had pub-
lished the pamphlet. Jefferson claimed that he had 
felt sorry for the journalist, who had been a victim of 
a prosecution under the Sedition Act.

The New York Response 

Several other Federalist journalists repeated the 
Callender accusation that Jefferson had been disloyal 
to Washington, including William Coleman, editor of 
the New York Evening Post (which had been founded 
chiefly by Alexander Hamilton), and the young Harry 
Croswell. Croswell had set up a weekly and extremely 
partisan Federalist newspaper in the attic of The 
Balance, the other, more moderate Federalist newspa-
per in Hudson. Croswell called his paper The Wasp, 
and emblazoned on its masthead was the motto: “To 
lash the Rascals naked through the world.”

13
 Writing 

under the editorial pseudonym of “Robert Rusticoat,” 
Croswell took savage aim at Jefferson’s purported 
explanation for the payment of the $100 to Callender: 

[I]t amounts to this then. He [Jefferson] read 
the book [actually the pamphlet The Prospect 
Before Us] and from that book inferred that 
Callender was an object of charity. Why! One 
who presented a face bloated with vices, a 
heart black as hell—one who could be guilty 
of such foul falsehoods, such vile aspersions 
of the best and greatest man the world has 
yet known—he an object of charity! No! He 
is the very man, that an aspiring mean and 
hallow hypocrite would press into the service 
of crime. He is precisely qualified to become 
a tool—to spit the venom and scatter the 
malicious, poisonous slanders of his employer. 
He, in short, is the very man that a disassem-
bling patriot, pretended ‘man of the people’ 
would employ to plunge for him the dagger or 
administer the arsenic.14

Croswell did not stop at targeting Jefferson. In 
the September 9, 1802 issue of The Wasp, Croswell 
published the following poem about New York 
Attorney General Ambrose Spencer of Columbia 
County, who had once been a Federalist, but had 
gone over to the Clinton/Jefferson camp:

Th’ attorney general chanc’d one day to meet 
A dirt, ragged fellow in the street  
A noisy swaggering beast 
with rum half drunk at least 
Th’ attorney, too, was drunk—but not with grog, 
Power and pride had set his head agog.

15
	

The Prosecution Gets Underway

Attorney General Spencer was not ready to accept 
without response this defamatory comment and 
other vicious lampooning of other local characters. 
In January 1803, Spencer, with Columbia County 
District Attorney Ebenezer Foote serving as his assis-
tant, secured two indictments against Croswell for 
seditious libel, a criminal offense under the common 
law. The first indictment was based on statements 
Croswell had made in the fourth issue of The Wasp, 
published on August 12, 1802, in which he had listed 
“a few ‘squally’ facts”—five executive acts by President 
Jefferson that, Croswell maintained, grossly violated 
the United States Constitution.

16
 The second, and far 

more serious, indictment was based on a paragraph 
that had appeared in The Wasp on September 9, 1802 
in which Croswell had responded to comments of 
Charles Holt, editor of The Bee, the Republican news-
paper in Hudson. Croswell had written: 

Holt says, the burden of the Federal song is, 
that Mr. Jefferson paid Callender for writing 
against the late administration. This is wholly 
false. The charge is explicitly this—Jefferson 
paid Callender for calling Washington a trai-
tor, a robber, and a perjurer—; for calling 
Adams a hoary headed incendiary; and for 
most grossly slandering the private characters 
of men, who he well knew were virtuous. 
These charges, not a democratic editor, has 
yet dared, or will dare to meet in an open and 
manly discussion.

17

People v. Croswell
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The twin 
indictments 
were returned 
before three 
judges of the 
Court of General 
Sessions sitting 
in Claverack, 
then the shire 
of Columbia 
County. 

At this point 
in the proceed-
ings, Alexander 
Hamilton had 
yet to make a for-
mal appearance. 
Nevertheless, 

Croswell was well represented by three outstanding 
Federalist attorneys, Elisha Williams, Jacob Rutsen 
Van Rensselaer, and William W. Van Ness. The defense 
attorneys’ first motion was to demand copies of the 
indictments. The Attorney General objected and his 
point was sustained by the all-Republican bench. The 
defense team then moved to postpone the trial until 
the next session of the Circuit Court. They argued that 
a case as legally complex as one involving the alleged 
libel of a prominent public figure should be heard by a 
Supreme Court Justice, trained in the law, who would 
be “riding Circuit.” Prosecutor Spencer opposed the 
motion, and he was promptly upheld.

Defense counsel then made the most significant 
motion in the entire trial, a request for a postpone-
ment in order to bring from Virginia James Callender 
who, the defense asserted, would testify to the truth 
of the allegedly defamatory statements. Spencer 
immediately objected, arguing that, because the 
case was being tried under the common law of New 
York, the truth or falsity of the libel was irrelevant. 
According to Spencer, all he had to prove was that 
Croswell had published these statements and that 
they defamed the character of Jefferson.

On its face Spencer’s “truth is no defense” argu-
ment seems to have been the biggest irony of the 
entire case. Here, the Jeffersonians, the self-professed 
party of the People, were vociferously advocating for 

the Royalist doctrine that the Crown had brought 
to bear against John Peter Zenger in his famous free 
press trial of 1753. Perhaps, however, the Republican 
position was not quite as hypocritical as it now seems. 
From our vantage point in the 21st century, it is hard 
to appreciate that what most colonial and post-revolu-
tionary liberals meant by Freedom of the Press was the 
prevalent Blackstonian notion of a press free from gov-
ernment licensing and prior restraint. Most Americans 
of the time did not think that the American Revolution 
had overthrown the common law of seditious libel. 
This notion is congruent with the Jeffersonians’ main 
objection to the Alien and Sedition Acts: not that 
they muzzled that party’s press or chilled civil liber-
ties, but that the literal wording of the First and Tenth 
Amendments prevented the national government from 
enacting any legislation of that type. 

We also perhaps fail to appreciate that William 
Blackstone was probably more revered by that gen-
eration than is any commentator of our time. In his 
famed Commentaries, Blackstone wrote:

[T]he liberty of the Press is indeed essential 
to the nature of a free state, but this consists 
in laying no prior restraints upon publication 
and not in freedom from censure for criminal 
matter when published. Every free man has 
an undoubted right to lay what sentiments 
he pleases before the public; to forbid this is 
to destroy the freedom of the press—but if he 
publishes what is improper, mischievous or 
illegal [note the important “or” rather than 
“and”] he must take the consequences of his 
own temerity.

18

According to Blackstone, “where blasphemous, 
immoral, treasonable, schismatic, seditious or scan-
dalous libels are punished by the English law . . . , 
the liberty of the press is by no means violated.”

19
 

Therefore, from an early 19th century perspective, 
the inconsistency between Jeffersonian rhetoric and 
that party’s prosecution of Harry Croswell was not as 
sharp or dramatic, at least from a legal perspective, as 
it might seem now.
Nevertheless, Attorney General Spencer’s argument 
that the truth is no defense—and therefore that evi-
dence seeking to prove the truth was inadmissible 

Ambrose Spencer, Chief Justice, New York 

Supreme Court, 1819-1823  Courtesy of the NYS 

Court of Appeals Collection 

People v. Croswell
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—gave Elisha Williams and the other members of 
the Croswell defense team ample political ammu-
nition with which to wage a counter-attack. That 
afternoon, Williams and Spencer debated the point, 
with Williams relying on the supposed tenet that 
the Constitution gave the People sovereignty over 
the government. But how could the People really be 
sovereign, and how could the People turn a corrupt 
government out of office, Williams asked, if a news-
paper editor could be punished simply for inform-
ing the electorate of the truth? Almost immediately, 
Spencer began to rethink his position. Initially, he 
agreed to postpone the trial of the first indictment, 
which was based on The Wasp’s claim that Jefferson’s 
executive acts had violated the Constitution. But 
he insisted that the second indictment, the charge 
concerning Jefferson’s payment to Callender, be 
tried forthwith. However, on the evening of January 

11, 1803, Croswell’s attorneys appeared in court 
and filed a formal affidavit stating that their client 
expected to prove the truth of the facts stated in The 
Wasp concerning the Callender charge. At this point, 
Spencer shifted his stance and allowed for a post-
ponement of the trial on the second indictment until 
the appearance of the next Court of General Sessions. 
As a condition, however, Spencer wanted Croswell 
bound with $500 bail on each indictment, not mere-
ly for the purpose of securing his appearance, but 
also “to keep the peace and be of good behavior.”

20
 

Croswell’s attorneys vehemently objected; this bail 
condition, they argued, was a classic prior restraint, 
arguably unlawful even under the common law 
interpretation of the freedom of the press. Although 
they were all Republicans the members of the court 
denied Spencer’s bold request.

Andrew Hamilton addressing the bench at the 1735 trial of John Peter Zenger 
Culver Images, Courtesy of American Heritage magazine for use in this publication only

People v. Croswell
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The Transfer to 
Circuit Court

Meanwhile, 
Croswell’s 
attorneys went 
back to work. 
In June 1803, 
they applied in 
Supreme Court 
for a writ of 
certiorari in an 
attempt to get 
the case trans-
ferred over to 
the next meeting 
of the Circuit 

Court in July at Claverack. Although Spencer initially 
opposed the request for a transfer, on June 14, 1803, 
he and the defense team reached an agreement that 
both indictments could be tried before a Supreme 
Court Justice, who would shortly be convening a 
Circuit Court in Columbia County. 

The Croswell trial actually began on July 11, 
1803 with Morgan Lewis, Chief Justice of the 
Supreme Court of Judicature, presiding. The first 
defense motion was for another adjournment, in 
an attempt to put the case over to the next sitting of 
the Circuit. In support, they introduced an affidavit 
indicating their intent to call Callender as a witness. 
Alternatively, the defense sought a commission to 
have Callender swear out an affidavit in Virginia. 
Attorney General Spencer objected. Chief Justice 
Lewis ultimately ruled that no adjournment was 
appropriate because the evidence to be obtained dur-
ing the adjournment merely concerned the truth of 
the charge for which the defendant had been indicted 
and, in his opinion, the law was settled that the truth 
could not be given in evidence to the jury as a “justi-
fication in a criminal prosecution for a libel.”

21
 

Croswell’s attorneys did all they could during the 
trial to argue against what was essentially a prejudg-
ment. Nothing substantial was left for the jury to 
decide because Croswell admitted that he had pub-
lished the statement at issue. The only point that real-
ly mattered was the Chief Justice’s charge to the jury. 

For all practical purposes, the Chief Justice charged 
the jury that they had only two things to decide: 
whether Croswell had published the scurrilous state-
ments in The Wasp and whether the readers believed 
that the statements defamed Jefferson. It was up to 
the court in determining the sentence, ruled Lewis, 
to weigh the truth or falsity of the statements and 
Croswell’s malice or lack thereof. The court charged:

[I]t was no part of the province of a jury to 
inquire or decide on the intent of the defen-
dant; or whether the publication in question 
was true, or false, or malicious; that the only 
questions for their consideration and decision 
were, first, whether the defendant was the 
publisher of the piece charged in the indict-
ment; and, second, as to the truth of the 
innuendoes; that if they were satisfied as 
to these two points, it was their duty to find 
him guilty; that the intent of the publisher, 
and whether the publication in question was 
libellous or not, was, upon the return of the 
postea, to be decided exclusively by the court, 
and, therefore, it was not his duty to give any 
opinion to them, on these points; and accord-
ingly no opinion was given.

22

The passage in this excerpt from the charge about 
the “truth of the innuendoes” may be somewhat 
misunderstood by modern readers. What this phrase 
would have been then understood to mean was that 
the jury must determine whether President Jefferson 
was the man referred to in the article and whether the 
words Croswell used attacked Jefferson’s character.

23
 It 

did not mean that the jury could determine the truth 
or falsity of the statements made by Callender and 
repeated by Croswell.

The jury retired at sunset with basically nothing 
to debate. Still, the jurors remained out the whole 
night and returned at eight o’clock the next morning 
with a verdict of guilty.

24

The Motion For a New Trial

Before judgment could be pronounced, Croswell’s 
attorneys quickly moved for a new trial, arguing 
initially (1) that the truth should be permitted in 

Governor Morgan Lewis
From the 1892 New York Red Book

Courtesy of the New York State Archives 
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evidence as a justifi-
cation and thus that 
Chief Justice Lewis 
had erred in deny-
ing the motion for 
a further adjourn-
ment, and (2) 
that the court had 
misdirected the jury. 
Following accepted 
practice of the time, 
the motion for a 
new trial would be 
heard by the entire 
five-justice Supreme 
Court—somewhat 
like an appeal of the 
judgment in modern 

practice. The defense attorneys would employ a legal 
device called the “case stated.” By “making a case,” 
essentially a set of facts to which the prosecution and 
defense stipulated, all objectionable matters, including 
any not in the record proper such as the jury charge 
which at the time was a matter outside the record, 
could be considered by the full Court.

25
 Following 

certain adjournments, the case was finally heard in 
February 1804 with the Supreme Court sitting in 
Albany. In accord with the practice of the day, the par-
ties would not exchange briefs before the argument.

26

The defense team used the time to regroup. The 
Federalists sought out Alexander Hamilton who, 
according to Justice (later Chancellor) James Kent, 
was “universally conceded” to be the preeminent 
lawyer of the era.

27
 As early as June 23, 1803, they 

had persuaded General Philip Schuyler, Hamilton’s 
father-in-law, to write the former Secretary of the 
Treasury for help. The rabid Federalist Schuyler 
described the case as “a libel against that Jefferson, 
who disgraces not only the place he fills but pro-
duces Immorality by his pernicious example.”

28
 

Although there is some evidence that Hamilton 
played an advisory role in the Croswell trial in the 
Circuit Court, other matters had precluded his 
appearing there. Now he was ready to enter the pro-
ceedings in person, gratis.

To a modest degree, Hamilton’s strategy was 
affected by recent events that had occurred in 
Virginia. On July 17, 1803, Croswell’s potential star 
witness, James Callender, apparently in the midst of a 
drinking spree, fell (or perhaps was pushed) out of a 
boat and found a final resting place, as one contem-
porary put it, “in congenial mud,” at the bottom of 
the James River.

29
 But Callender did leave behind his 

papers, including letters Jefferson had written express-
ing his approval of The Prospect Before Us, evidence 
that could potentially be used by Hamilton if the 
Court were to grant a new trial. Indeed, theoretically 
at least, at any retrial Hamilton might try to subpoena 
Jefferson himself, or at least to secure Jefferson’s affi-
davit on the truth of the Callender matter. Any retrial 
might prove embarrassing to the President.

Hamilton’s Opportunity

For Hamilton, the Croswell case was an opportu-
nity not to be missed. First, and perhaps foremost, it 
gave him a chance to strike back at Jefferson, his old 
rival in the Washington administration. Second, it 
provided Hamilton with a means to further his view 
of American constitutionalism. Although far from a 
populist, Hamilton did understand that a free press 
was more critical in America than in Britain, and that 
freedom of the press was a great issue on which to win 
back to the Federalist cause the favor of the electorate. 
Hamilton could argue for a cautious view of freedom 
of the press, in which the motive of the author would 
be the critical component in assessing liability. 

The Croswell case also gave Hamilton an opportu-
nity to highlight his brilliance as a thinker and orator 
in a case that was far more understandable to the 
general public than his typical practice of maritime 
insurance cases or land grant disputes. Hamilton was 
“skilled in the rhetoric of dress and behavior” and 
this asset only enhanced the persuasiveness of his 
legal argument.

30
 Finally, for Hamilton—who was 

now known as General Hamilton, for his service as 
acting commander of the American army between 
1798 and 1800 in the so-called Quasi-War with 
France—a big victory in Croswell might restore a 
portion of his lost reputation. Hamilton expected, 
and even desired, a war with Napoleon’s France—a 

James Kent Chief Judge, New York  Supreme 

Court, 1804-1814, Chancellor of the Court of Chan-

cery, 1814-1823

Courtesy of the NYS Court of Appeals Collection
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real possibility in 1804—and the press coverage of 
Croswell could only raise his stature in the minds of 
the Federalist leaders. 

Hamilton assembled a formidable defense team. 
He retained the services of William W. Van Ness, 
who had appeared for Croswell in the Circuit Court. 
Hamilton also recruited his old friend and fellow 
Federalist Richard Harison, who had served as an 
Assistant Attorney General during the Washington 
administration.

Anticipating the Bench 

As he took a horse-drawn sleigh up to Albany to 
argue the matter in early February 1804, Hamilton 
had to know his chances for success were not good. 
The five-member Supreme Court of Judicature would 
be missing one member. Recently, the prosecutor 
in the case, Attorney General Spencer, had been 
appointed to the Court and he would not sit on the 
case.

31
 Instead, in what we can only find shocking 

by today’s ethical standards, Spencer, although a 
member of the Court, would 
actually continue to prosecute 
the case for the State. With him, 
Spencer would enlist the services 
of George Caines, the country’s 
first official reporter and a loyal 
Jeffersonian.

32
 Although he had 

been the trial justice whose 
charge and rulings were the 
subject of the new trial appli-
cation, Chief Justice Morgan 
Lewis would be sitting, as 
would fellow Republican jurists 
Brockholst Livingston and Smith 
Thompson. The only Federalist 
on the Bench was James Kent, 
who would later become a lumi-
nary in American law.

Contrary to some accounts, 
no stenographic record was made 
of the oral arguments before the 
Supreme Court of Judicature.

33
 

George Caines is responsible 
for a document known as The 

Speeches at Full Length of Mr. Van Ness, Mr. Caines, The 
Attorney General, Mr. Harison, and General Hamilton in 
the Great Cause of People v Croswell, on an Indictment 
for a Libel on Thomas Jefferson, President of the United 
States (hereinafter cited as The Complete Speeches), but 
many commentators note that this presentation was 
biased and, its title notwithstanding, incomplete.

34
 

For example, according to Kent’s notes and newspaper 
accounts from the period, Hamilton spoke for over six 
hours over parts of two days, yet only 16 typewritten 
pages were devoted to his presentation in the Caines 
publication.

35

Oral arguments began on February 13, 1804. 
William W. Van Ness argued that the truth cannot 
be a libel. He relied on ancient British statutes and 
claimed that the law had been “polluted” by the deci-
sions of England’s notorious Star Chamber, a court 
that had heard most of the political libel and treason 
cases in that nation from 1487 to 1641. Van Ness 
noted that the indictments and informations at issue 
in the precedents of England always charged libelous 

People v. Croswell

The Old Capitol Building where the Supreme Court of Judicature sat when it heard the oral 
argument in Croswell. Photograph from negative no. 8002, Series A0421, Division of Visual Instruction Lantern 
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matter to be false. Finally, he argued 
that the principle “truth cannot be a 
libel” was essential to any country hav-
ing a free elective system. 

Van Ness then embarked on the 
defense’s next point: that the Chief 
Justice had erred in charging the 
jury that it was required to convict 
Croswell upon mere proof of the 
publication. The defense contended 
that the jury’s right to decide on both 
the law and the facts was absolute and 
“inherent” in every criminal case and 
that the charge had been erroneous 
because it had not permitted the jury 
to consider the circumstances of what 
had been said. Van Ness and Harison 
went so far as to rely on the Federal 
Sedition Act of 1798. Section three 
of that law, they noted, allowed the 
truth in evidence and allowed the jury to determine 
the malice or lack thereof of the speaker. According 
to the defense, the Sedition Act was declaratory of the 
common law at the time. 

George Caines spoke first for the People. He 
defended the jury charge by noting that nothing 
could be improper in a direction that the jury decides 
the facts and the court decides the law. Caines 
attempted to distinguish between the powers and the 
rights of the jury. Essentially, Caines urged that the 
jury does have the power, but not the right, to nullify 
the law, but that the charge given to the jury should 
properly dissuade the jurors from exercising that ille-
gitimate power. Relying on a slew of English citations, 
Caines noted that Croswell’s intent was irrelevant 
because the tendency of the statement to breach the 
peace was the essence of the libel and that tendency 
existed irrespective of the intent of the publisher or 
the truth or falsity of the allegations.

36
 Indeed, Caines 

alluded to the often-quoted maxim: “the greater the 
truth the greater the libel,” for a truthful libel “has 
an increased tendency to a breach of the peace.”

37
 It 

must have seemed ironic to the Justices on the bench 
to hear Caines, the Jeffersonian, relying on the court’s 
charge in the Zenger case as representative of New 
York law.

Attorney General Spencer fol-
lowed Caines and noted that he 
was arguing the case on the author-
ity of what the law was, not what 
perhaps it ought to be. Spencer first 
rejected the defense claim that Chief 
Justice Lewis had erred in granting 
an adjournment of the trial to the 
next Circuit. He pointed out that the 
defendant had shown no due dili-
gence in trying to secure Callender 
for the July sitting of the Circuit 
Court. Morever, he insisted that 
Chief Justice Lewis had been correct 
when he had ruled that the truth is 
irrelevant. According to the Attorney 
General, the cases cited by the 
defendant for the proposition that 
intent and truth were matters for the 
jury were either incorrect statements 

of the common law or not on point. Spencer also 
insisted that it was not the speaker’s subjective intent 
that constituted the punishable nature of the libel, 
rather, it was the tendency of the statement to breach 
the peace. He argued that Great Britain’s passage of 
Fox’s Libel Act of 1792 and Congress’s passage of the 
Sedition Act of 1798—both acts making the truth 
admissible—were not declaratory of the common law.

The skillful oratorical presentations of these four 
lawyers, impressive as they were, really ended in a 
stalemate. First, the precedents in England were dif-
ficult to interpret; much depended upon how far back 
the Justices wanted to go and what weight should be 
given to the Star Chamber decisions, which favored 
the prosecution. Morever, even if English common 
law was as settled as the prosecution would have it, 
the question still remained whether literal adher-
ence to these particular aspects of the common law 
could be squared with the New York Constitution of 
1777. It almost seemed as if the first day and a half 
of legal argument primarily served to set the stage for 
Alexander Hamilton.

Hamilton’s Argument

By the afternoon of February 14, 1803, the crowd 
overflowed in the Supreme Court chamber in Albany. 

Alexander Hamilton  
John Trumbull, 1806    
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According to Charles Holt’s The Bee, almost the entire 
State Senate and Assembly poured into the courtroom 
to hear the climax of the arguments. The legislators 
were there for more than the pleasure of seeing the 
great orator Hamilton in action. Already, a legislator 
had presented a bill that would permit the truth to be 
considered by the jury in a criminal libel case.

The Role of Truth 

Hamilton’s arguments were much more than 
a rebuttal of the arguments of Caines and Spencer. 
From the court reporter’s case report, Caines’s 
account in The Complete Speeches, Justice Kent’s notes, 
and the accounts taken from newspapers of the time, 
a fair approximation of his argument can be attempt-
ed. After begging the court’s indulgence for beginning 
the argument so late in the day, Hamilton empha-
sized the importance of the case and what he called 
the “two great questions”: the admissibility of the 
truth as evidence and the right of the jury to examine 
the publisher’s intent.

38
 Hamilton insisted that he 

was not arguing for the “pestilential doctrine of an 
unchecked press” because he had seen the “best char-
acter of our country” (Washington) marred by such a 
press.

39
 Rather, Hamilton advocated for “the right of 

publishing truth, with good motives, although cen-
sure might light upon the government, magistrates 
or individuals.”

40
 Hamilton insisted that the jury, not 

the magistrate appointed by the executive branch, 
should provide the check on the government and the 
press. He noted that the judicial branch in America 
was not as independent from the legislative and exec-
utive branches as it was in England. He was aware of 
the dark side of human nature and would not trust 
a judiciary, often placed into power by the prevailing 
political party of the day, to provide the critical check 
on the press and an overzealous prosecutor.

Hamilton then skillfully blended into his argu-
ment what are really two distinct concepts: the truth 
or falsity of the statement as a defense to the libel and 
the question of who should determine the intent of 
the speaker. By taking a little bit from each concept, 
Hamilton could argue forcefully, but not overstate, his 
position in the fine common law tradition of taking 
one incremental step at a time in the development of 
the law. According to Hamilton, it was the speaker’s 

intent that determined the crime of libel and the jury 
must be empowered to determine the intent of the 
publisher. Hamilton insisted that “truth is a material 
element” in the evidence of intent.

41
 “In the whole 

system of law,” he insisted, “there is no other case in 
which the truth cannot be shown.”

42
 In other words, 

Hamilton was not going so far as to say that the truth 
should always be an ironclad defense. A malicious 
intent, he observed, might constitute a libel even 
though the charge was true. The jury, however, should 
be able to consider the truth as evidence of intent. 

Hamilton also dipped into the English com-
mon law and directly addressed the Star Chamber 
decisions that purportedly declared that the ques-
tions of truth and intent were not relevant in libel 
cases. Although professing great admiration for Lord 
Mansfield, the author of the Dean of St. Asaph’s case—
the decision on which the Croswell jury charge had 
been patterned—Hamilton insisted that the learned 
judge “might have [had] some biases on his mind, 
not extremely favorable to liberty.”

43
 In an attempt 

to show that the defendant’s malicious intent was 
central to the definition of a libel, Hamilton observed 
that in this case, “when the counsel for the defendant 
objected to the Attorney General’s reading of passages 
from the prospectus of The Wasp, and from other 
numbers [apart from the issue where the allegedly 
libelous statements were contained], he expressly 
avowed that he thus acted in order that the Jury might 
see it to be ‘manifest that the intent of the defendant 
was malicious.’”

44
 This evidence, Hamilton observed, 

should, under the prosecution’s own theory of the 
case, have been ruled inadmissible if the jury was to 
have no role in determining the speaker’s intent.

Hamilton’s Oratory

Throughout the afternoon, Hamilton impressed 
his audience with his oratory. Kent observed that 
Hamilton was “sublimely eloquent” and—in writ-
ing to Hamilton’s widow, Elizabeth, years after the 
event—declared that he “always considered General 
Hamilton’s argument in that cause the greatest foren-
sic effort he had ever made.”

45
 According to Kent,

 there was an unusual solemnity and ear-
nestness on the part of General Hamilton 
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in this discussion. He was at times highly 
impassioned and pathetic. His whole soul 
was enlisted in the cause and in contending 
for the rights of the jury and a free press he 
considered he was establishing the finest refuge 
against oppression.

46
 

The next morning Hamilton took up the argu-
ment again. He claimed that truth

cannot be dangerous to government, though 
it may work partial difficulties. . . . It is evi-
dent that if you cannot apply this mitigated 
doctrine for which I speak, to the cases of 
libels here, you must for ever remain ignorant 
of what your rulers do. I never can think this 
ought to be; I never did think the truth was a 
crime; I am glad the day is come in which it 
is to be decided; for my soul has ever abhorred 
the thought, that a free man dared not speak 
the truth; I have for ever rejoiced when this 
question has been brought forward.

47

Hamilton, too, relied upon the Sedition Act of 
1798, a law which, he noted, had been “branded with 
epithets the most odious, which will one day be pro-
nounced a valuable feature in our national character.”

48
 

He asserted that under that Act, “we find not only the 
intent, but the truth may be submitted to the jury, and 
that even in a justificatory manner.”

49
 He noted that 

these facets were inserted into the law upon “common 
law principles.” In a passage not included by Caines, 
but recorded by Kent in his notes, Hamilton

digress[ed] into a pathetic, impassioned & most 
eloquent address on the Danger to our Liberties, 
not from a few provisional armies, but from 
dependent Judges from selected Juries, from 
stiffling (sic) the Press & the voice of lead-
ers and patriots. We ought to resist -- resist 
-- resist til (sic) we hurl the Demagogues & 
Tyrants from their imagined thrones.

50

This argument led Hamilton into a eulogy of the 
late George Washington that, according to Kent, “was 
never surpassed—never equalled.”

51

Deliberations, Decision and Aftermath

On February 15, 1804, the case was submitted, 
and the Court began its deliberations. Little is official-
ly known about how the Justices voted during their 
initial conferences. But from the papers of Justice 
Kent, what has been revealed, if believed, is nothing 
less than shocking.

52

According to Kent, an early vote was 3-1 for a 
reversal and a new trial. Kent and Justice Thompson 
were for a new trial on both of the main points raised 
by the defense. Justice Livingston also declared him-
self for the motion on the “first ground” raised by the 
defense—the right of the jury to determine intent—
and he proposed that the Court should quickly write 
an opinion for a reversal on this ground. Kent stated 
that he wanted to go further and examine the points 
more fully and give his reasons in a lengthy opinion. 

Released on Bail

Early in the April term of the Court, Croswell, 
who was still out on bail since judgment had not 
been entered despite the verdict, began to attend 
court every day awaiting word of his fate. One 
day, when Chief Justice Lewis was absent, Justice 
Livingston spoke up from the bench and asked Justice 
Kent and Justice Thompson if they were for a new 
trial. Kent and Thompson stated that they were, on 
both points. Livingston then said that he was for a 
new trial on the first point and therefore that the 
defendant should “be released from attending Court 
as it was useless to detain him.”

53
 Thus, the three 

Justices released Croswell on $500 bail and directed 
him to appear for the new trial at the next Circuit 
Court to be held in Columbia County. 

However, toward the end of the term in May 
1804, Justice Livingston switched his tentative vote 
and joined with the Chief Justice in denying the 
motion for a new trial. On the last day of the term, 
Chief Justice Lewis announced that the Court had 
split 2-2 on the motion for a new trial and that, in 
accord with then-settled law, the motion for a new 
trial failed. The People were entitled to move for an 
immediate judgment on the verdict. Justice Livingston 
did not have the nerve to appear in court that day, 
complaining he was sick.

54
 Indeed, again according to 
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Kent, Justice Livingston never even bothered to read 
Kent’s opinion in the case.

55

Justice Kent wanted to read his opinion from the 
bench, but the Chief Justice and Justice Thompson 
did not think it was necessary. Thus, the Croswell case 
ended with little immediate public attention.

Perhaps realizing that they had won the legal 
battle but were in danger of losing the political war, 
the prosecution never moved for judgment enforc-
ing the verdict nor sought to obtain pronouncement 
of a sentence. It was not until much later—after 
Hamilton’s death in the duel with Burr—that the two 
opinions in the case were published, one by Kent and 
one by Lewis. Yet the Croswell prosecution did have 
an immediate impact. Indeed, at the very time that 
the Justices of the Court were taking the case under 
advisement and for several months after the deci-
sion was handed down, the Justices of the Supreme 
Court of Judicature were also acting in their role as 
members of the Council of Revision in considering 
the constitutionality and wisdom of a bill entitled 
“An Act Relative to Governing Libels.” Although there 
is no evidence that the deliberations of the Justices in 
Croswell were influenced by their role as Revisers on 
the Council, this fact does illustrate just how far we 
have come in the development of the separation of 
powers principle since 1804. 

The sequel to People v. Croswell was actually 
written in the Legislature. After the Council on 
Revision expressed objections to the original bill in 
the fall of 1804, the Assembly voted to reject it. In 
1805, William W. Van Ness, the only member of the 
Croswell defense team who participated in all phases 
of the litigation and who was then a member of the 
Assembly, introduced a new bill modeled on the 
points that Hamilton had orally advanced and had 
summarized in his written document entitled “15 
Propositions on the Law of Libel.”

56
 Passed in 1805, 

the new act respecting libels contained four key fea-
tures. First, the law allowed the jury to determine the 
intent of the speaker “as in any other criminal case.”

57
 

To this end, it prevented the court from charging 
the jury that it was required to find “the defendant 
guilty, merely on the proof of the publication by the 
defendant, of the matter charged to be libellous, and 
of the sense ascribed thereto.”

58
 Second, it allowed 

the defendant “to give evidence, in his defence, [of] 
the truth of the matter contained in the publication 
charged as libellous: provided always [,] that such 
evidence shall not be a justification, unless, on the 
trial, it shall further be made satisfactorily to appear, 
that the matter charged as libellous, was published 
with good motives and for justifiable ends.”

59
 Third, 

the statute limited the punishment for anyone con-
victed of libel to a fine not exceeding $5000 and 
imprisonment for not more than 18 months. Finally, 
the provision prohibited a prosecution for libel by 
information rather than indictment. The key features 
of this legislation were inserted into the 1821 State 
Constitution as then - Article VII, § 8. The provi-
sion now appears as Article I, § 8 of the current 
Constitution of the State of New York. 

Because the prosecution never moved for judg-
ment in Croswell, on the Governor’s signing of the 
1805 act concerning libels, the Supreme Court, in the 
August 1805 Term, unanimously awarded Croswell 
a new trial. The prosecution never attempted to retry 
Croswell on the criminal charges, though the pros-

Duel of Alexander Hamilton and Aaron Burr
Culver Images, Courtesy of American Heritage magazine for use in this publication only
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ecutor, Ambrose Spencer, returned to Hudson and 
brought a civil suit against Croswell for libels against 
himself. Croswell refused to back down from the 
scathing comments he had made about both Spencer 
and Assistant District Attorney Ebenezer Foote in 
the farewell issue of The Wasp, which first appeared 
on January 26, 1803. Foote commenced a lawsuit of 
his own. Spencer recovered $126.00 in damages.

60
 

Foote, attempting to prove he was not a swindler, was 
ambushed by a host of witnesses who swore that they 
had seen him cheat at cards, among other things. The 
jury awarded Foote six cents.

61

Fate of the Major Players

What then happened to the major players in 
the Croswell case? On February 21, six days after the 
Court heard the final round of oral argument in 
Croswell, Chief Justice Lewis replaced John Lansing 
as the nominee of the Republican party for the office 
of Governor of the State of New York. (In the general 
election held in late April of that year, he went on to 
defeat then-Vice President Aaron Burr after Hamilton 
urged his fellow Federalists not to support Burr.) Did 
the acceptance of the nomination for the office of 
Governor influence Lewis’s vote in the Croswell case? 
One can only speculate. In 1807, President Thomas 
Jefferson appointed Justice Brockholst Livingston 
to the Supreme Court of the United States. Could 
Jefferson have been rewarding Livingston for the 
switch of his vote in Croswell? Again, one is tempted 
to speculate. We know that James Kent later served as 
the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of Judicature 
and as Chancellor of the State of New York, the latter 
title being probably the most significant legal posi-
tion of the time. He also gained national fame as the 
author of Kent’s Commentaries. His portrait commands 
a distinguished place in the New York Court of 
Appeals Richardson Courtroom and is accompanied 
by an impressive bronze plaque affixed to the wall 
just outside the Courtroom’s anteroom. 

In April of 1804, George Caines became the 
official Reporter of New York State and served in that 
position until November 1805, when then-Chief 
Justice Kent appointed his personal and professional 
friend, William Johnson, to the post. Attorney General 
Ambrose Spencer served on the New York Supreme 
Court for almost two full decades, including as the 

Chief Justice from 1819 to 1823. After leaving the 
Court, Spencer served as Mayor of Albany, resumed 
private practice, and later served one term in Congress.  

Harry Croswell became senior editor of The Balance 
in Hudson until 1809, when he moved his paper to 
Albany. By that time, however, the Federalists in that 
city were in serious disarray. Croswell’s debts soon piled 
up and, in 1811, when a leading Federalist who had 
loaned him money obtained a judgment against him, 
Croswell ended up serving time in debtor’s prison. By 
then, thoroughly disenchanted with politics, Croswell 
left news reporting altogether. He took Episcopal orders 
and served as rector of the Trinity Church in New 
Haven, Connecticut for 43 years. 			 

Many know the story of how Hamilton met his 
fate. While in Albany for the February 1804 Supreme 
Court term that included the argument in Croswell, 
Hamilton dined with Justice Kent and Judge John 
Taylor. Taylor’s son-in-law, Dr. Charles D. Cooper, 
also happened to be in attendance. At this din-
ner, Hamilton made some unsavory remarks about 
Colonel Aaron Burr, whose future as Vice President 
or in any role in the Jefferson Administration had 
been sealed, and who was wooing Federalist support 
for his contemplated run for Governor of New York. 
According to Cooper’s account in an Albany news-
paper, Hamilton said at this dinner that he “looked 
upon Mr. Burr to be a dangerous man, and one who 
ought not to be trusted” with the reins of govern-
ment.

62
 Cooper later added that he could cite instanc-

es in which Hamilton had expressed “a still more 
despicable opinion of Burr.”

63
 Hamilton probably 

thought that his comments were “off the record” and 
for the individuals in the room only but—like a mod-
ern e-mailer who realizes it is too late to retract a rash 
thought once the “send” button is pushed—Hamilton 
had gone beyond the point of no return. When this 
conversation with friends made it into the newspa-
pers, it incensed Aaron Burr to the point of challeng-
ing Hamilton to a duel. Although he had experienced 
the trauma of losing his eldest son, Philip, to a fatal 
duel, Hamilton could not back down.

Did the acclaim Hamilton won at the Croswell 
oral argument before the Supreme Court play a part 
in persuading him to accept Burr’s challenge in spite 
of his professed detestation of dueling? Perhaps, but 
whatever the predominant reason for accepting the 
challenge, Hamilton paid for it with his life. 
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IN THE NEW YORK STATE 
senatorial elections of 1891, 
two great forces converged: 
the urge for reform and the 

lust for power. That clash has 
shaped New York’s approach 
to election law for more than a 
century. 

New York State’s Ballot 
Reform Law of 18901 was intend-
ed to eradicate what was then 
widespread vote-buying. The 
proponents of the legislation rea-
soned that no one would try to 
bribe a voter without some way 
to verify that the bribe-taker (by 
definition dishonest)2 had actu-
ally carried out his part of the 
bargain.3 The law was intended 
to make this verification impossible. Before the Ballot 
Reform Law, ballots had been printed by the par-
ties.4 Not coincidentally, it was frequently possible to 
determine for whom a voter was casting his ballot by 
observing the exterior of the folded ballot as it was 

being cast, or the interior of the bal-
lot when it had been unfolded and 
was being counted. The Ballot Reform 
Law provided that all ballots were to 
be printed by the government with 
identical ink on paper of identical 
size, shape, and color. Each ballot list-
ed only one party’s candidates. Under 
the Ballot Reform Law, before a voter 
entered the voting booth, the ballot 
clerks gave him one ballot for each 
party that had nominated candidates. 
In the booth, the voter selected the 
ballot he wished to cast, then folded 
all of the ballots in the same manner, 
so that the only mark visible was the 
pre-printed official “indorsement,” 
which consisted only of the name of 
the town or city and the number of 

the election district where the ballot was used, and a 
facsimile signature of the county clerk. Upon leaving 
the booth, the voter deposited his chosen ballot in 
the ballot box and the remaining ballots in a box for 
unvoted ballots. Since the ballot that was cast looked 

good law, unintended consequences 
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identical to the ballots that were discarded, no observer 
at a polling place could determine the candidates 
for whom the voter had cast his ballot.5No election 
inspector was permitted to allow a voter to place in the 
ballot box a ballot that did not bear the proper, official 
indorsement, unless official ballots were unavailable.6 
If official ballots were unavailable, the inspectors or the 
voters were to prepare substitutes as similar to the offi-
cial ballots as possible, but without the indorsement.7 

When the ballot boxes were opened, if an elec-
tion inspector were to declare his belief that a par-
ticular ballot had been marked with the intent that 
it be identified, the ballot would be counted, but it 
would be preserved for a possible challenge.8 A bal-
lot marked by a voter, or by any other person to the 
knowledge of the voter, with the intent that it be iden-
tified as the one cast by the voter, was void.9 

Absolute control of New York State government 
was the goal of the Democrats in 1891. Going into the 
election, the Democrats controlled the Assembly by six 
seats, and the Republicans had only a two-seat margin 
in the State Senate. Democrat David B. Hill, in his last 
year as Governor, could cap his career in state office by 
leaving the Democrats in control of not only the gov-
ernorship, but also both houses of the legislature.

Hill had strenuously opposed the idea that all 
ballots should be printed by the government. He had 
vetoed an act requiring a “blanket ballot”—that is, 
a ballot bearing the names of all candidates for all 
offices, on which a voter would have indicated his 
choice by a mark.10 He finally signed the 1890 law 
only because it allowed voters to use “pasters;” these 
were strips of paper bearing the names of the voter’s 
chosen candidates, which were prepared in advance, 
brought by the voter to the polls, and pasted inside 
a government-printed ballot. Pasters, Hill said, were 
“especially dear to old men, to independent voters, to 
naturalized citizens, who read, speak, and write the 
English language very imperfectly, to poor men or oth-
ers who are so unfortunate as to be illiterate, but who 
do not desire to expose their illiteracy to others than 
their own families, and to many electors who desire 
more than a few brief moments in which to prepare 
their ballots.”11 Moreover, Hill distrusted those who 
would be in charge of officially printed ballots. Such 
persons were, after all, partisans; the “crime, fraud, 

negligence, or mere inadvertence of a single officer” 
could, he said, determine the outcome of an election.12 

In 1891, the 25th Senatorial District comprised 
Onondaga and Cortland Counties. The Republican 
candidate was Rufus Peck; the Democrat was John H. 
Nichols. Some days before the election, as prescribed 
by law, the official ballots arrived at the Onondaga 
County Clerk’s Office, where, again as prescribed by 
law, they were inspected, sorted, and sent to the offic-
es of the various town clerks, whence, on election day, 
they were delivered to the polling places for each elec-
tion district. By crime, fraud, negligence, or mere inad-
vertence, some election districts in Onondaga County 
received Republican ballots that were intended for 
another election district in the same town. Since, 
pursuant to the Ballot Reform Law, each ballot was 
indorsed with the name of the town and the number 
of the election district in which it was to be used, and 
since only Republican ballots were delivered to the 
wrong districts, an observer who knew of the mixup 
and who saw a voter casting a ballot indorsed with 
the number of the wrong election district would know 
that the voter had cast a Republican ballot.13 

If anyone at the polling places noticed the prob-
lem no record was made of it before the votes were 
cast, during the voting, or when the votes were count-
ed. None of the Republican ballots that were counted 
was preserved for a challenge, although, as required 
by law, a sample of each ballot was attached to the 
election officials’ report for each election district. The 
Republican sample ballot in each district at issue bore 
the wrong district number. The attorney for Peck later 
said that the mistake was not discovered until the 
morning of Election Day and that the ballots could 
not be exchanged to correct the error because of the 
“long distance between the polling places.”14 

As luck would have it, if the Republican ballots 
bearing the wrong district number were counted, then 
Peck, the Republican, would win. If not, then Nichols 
would win and, moreover, the Democrats would 
control the Senate. On November 17, Peck obtained 
an order from Onondaga County Supreme Court 
Justice George N. Kennedy, a Republican, requiring 
the Onondaga County Board of Canvassers, which the 
Democrats controlled, to show cause why it should 
not be directed to issue a certificate in accordance 
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with the returns from the towns and wards, which 
would give Peck the victory. The order was returnable 
“immediately after service.” Justice Kennedy heard 
argument on November 17 and, on November 18, 
granted the Republicans the requested relief. The cer-
tificate was filed on November 19 with the Onondaga 
County Clerk.15 

The New York Times report of Justice Kennedy’s 
order anticipated that the next battle would be fought 
in the Senate in Albany where, the paper surmised, 
the Democrats would assert, among other things, that 
Peck had forfeited his United States citizenship by 
voting in a Canadian election while living in Canada 
during the Civil War.16 Governor Hill, however, had 
not given up on Onondaga County justice, although 
he wanted no more of Onondaga County Justices. In a 
letter dated November 25, 1891, Hill asked Brooklyn 
Democratic boss Hugh McLaughlin to find a Supreme 
Court Justice in the Second Judicial Department “who 
has the pluck and courage and ability to hold an 
extraordinary special term [in Onondaga County] on 
Friday.” As Governor, Hill could designate the lucky, 
plucky justice to hear some election motions. Hill 
wrote: 

�We simply ask him to decide according to law 
as his judgment may dictate. . . This is impor-
tant for the public interest and for the interest 
of the Democratic party. It involves the control 
of this State for many years to come.17 

In addition to writing McLaughlin, Hill met 
on November 25 with Brooklyn District Attorney 
James W. Ridgway. That evening, Ridgway met with 
McLaughlin (presumably delivering Hill’s letter), 
and wired Hill that the two should be able to give 
Hill the name of a judge that same night.18 (It is not 
clear from the letter whether the judge referred to by 
Ridgway in the telegram was for Onondaga County or 
for one of the other legislative election cases. At the 
time, in addition to the Onondaga Senate race, Hill 
was directing Democratic strategy with regard to an 
Assembly seat in Onondaga and Cortland Counties19 
and Senate seats in Duchess, Columbia, and Putnam 
Counties,20 Rensselaer and Washington Counties,21 
and Steuben, Chemung, and Allegany Counties.22)

However, Ridgway and McLaughlin seem not 
to have been able to immediately locate a Supreme 
Court justice willing and able to meet their needs. 
Justice Pratt, one of the judges under consideration, 
was hunting on Long Island, and Justice Dykeman 
was in such bad condition that his physician would 
not permit him to travel even to White Plains. When 
Justice Pratt returned he, too, proved to be too sick to 
travel; he was “having to use an instrument to draw 
off his water every two hours,” Ridgway reported to 
Hill.23 

In a letter dated November 28 to William Kirk of 
Syracuse, one of Hill’s operatives, Hill seemed uncer-
tain that he could find a downstate justice to hear the 
Senate case in Onondaga County, although he hoped 
to get one for Tuesday, December 1. He directed Kirk 
to have the Onondaga County Democrats bring a  
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proceeding before a judge other than Justice 
Kennedy for a writ requiring the Onondaga 
County canvassers to reconvene and report the 
results without counting the Peck votes at issue. 
Hill anticipated that Special Term and an extraor-
dinary General Term might deny him relief, but 
believed that the Court of Appeals would find in 
his favor. Hill feared that if the application were 
brought before Justice Kennedy, he would “hold 
the case for delay.” Hill wrote: 

�Any other fair judge will deny it promptly, 
in case he does not decide in our favor. It 
is useless to argue the case at special term 
or at general term. Let those arguments 
be merely pro forma. . . . I hope to get an 
extraordinary Special Term next Tuesday 
for Syracuse. Will advise you as soon as it 
is arranged. Our Democratic judges seem 
to be busy, sick or timid; but I hope to get 
one with sufficient backbone to decide 
according to law.24 

Hill was confident of getting “justice” from 
the Court of Appeals, as long as the case was 
decided before January 5, when the Senate would 
organize.25

Hill’s plan to litigate the issue regarding the 
ballots in Onondaga County was not met with 
immediate enthusiasm by the attorneys for the 
Democrats. Nichols was represented by, among 
others, Louis Marshall, one of the finest lawyers 
of the day. In a letter to Hill dated November 
30, 1891, O.U. Kellogg, one of Marshall’s associ-
ates, gave three reasons why they doubted their 
chances of success.26 First, although Section 31 of 
the Ballot Reform Law laid down the rule that bal-
lots lacking the official indorsement should not 
be counted, the ballots in question did bear an 
official (albeit incorrect) indorsement.27 Second, 
although Section 31 provided that if an election 
official declared at or immediately after the can-
vass of the votes his belief that a ballot had been 
marked with the intent to be identifiable, the bal-
lot should be preserved for review in a mandamus 

proceeding, no official had so declared, nor had 
the questioned ballots been preserved. Third, 
although Section 35 voided a ballot marked by a 
voter, or by any person with the knowledge of the 
voter, with the intent that it afterwards be identi-
fied as one voted by him, establishing a voter’s 
knowledge and intent would be difficult. Kellogg 
suggested that Hill consider having the State 
Board of Canvassers, which was completely under 
the control of the Governor, issue a certificate of 
election to Nichols. This would give the Governor 
(through a Democratic majority) control over 
organization of the Senate, “and then let Peck 
come in and contest.” However, if, before the State 
Board met, the courts ruled against the Democrats, 
then “the State Board of Canvassers could not 
with good grace ignore the decision or the Senate 
reject [Peck].”28 Hill, confident of success in the 
Court of Appeals if nowhere else, opted for litiga-
tion.29 

Meanwhile, Hill had found his judge. He 
appointed Supreme Court Justice Morgan J. 
O’Brien, a New York City Democrat, to an extraor-
dinary special term in Onondaga County, and it 
was to O’Brien that the Democrats brought their 
case. 30 Justice O’Brien was only 39 years old and 
had been on the bench for less than four years.31 
On Tuesday, December 1, O’Brien granted Nichols 
an order requiring the County Board of Canvassers 
to show cause why they should not be required 
to report a canvass without the votes cast for 
Peck.32 Nichols alleged, among other things, that 
“improper endorsements were placed on said bal-
lots” with the intent that they be identifiable, but 
he offered no evidence to back up this assertion.33 
The Board had 17 Democratic members and 16 
Republican members. In the answer on behalf of 
the Board, the Democrats admitted the essential 
facts alleged in Nichols’s papers and asked the 
court to determine whether the Board should 
have included the Republican votes at issue.34 In a 
separate answer, the Republican members of the 
Board admitted the ballot mixup, denied fraud 
or intent that the ballots be identifiable, asserted 
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that the ballots could not be chal-
lenged because they had not been 
treated as invalid and had not 
been preserved, and asserted that 
the November 18 writ by Justice 
Kennedy was res judicata as to 
the issues raised by Nichols.35 
The Republicans also submitted 
affidavits from election inspectors 
(presumably Republicans) in each 
district in question, each of which 
stated that on Election Day, no 
official Republican ballots bearing 
the official indorsement had been 
delivered to the polling place, 
nor had there been delivered to 
the polling place ballots prepared 
by the Town Clerk in a format as 
close as possible to the official 
ballots, together with an affidavit 
by the Town Clerk of the circum-
stances. So, the election inspectors 
averred, they had given the voters 
ballots as similar in form as possible to the official 
ballots; those ballots had been identical to the 
official ballots, except that the wrong election 
district was indorsed, and no one objected.36 This 
description by the Republicans of what they did 
tracked the language of Section 21 that allowed 
the use of unofficial ballots if official ballots were 
not available. There was also an affidavit from the 
County Clerk saying that any mixup had been 
inadvertent.37 

The case was argued before Justice O’Brien 
on December 3.38 On behalf of Nichols, Attorney 
David McClure conceded that the voters who had 
cast the ballots in question had thought that they 
were voting a legal ticket, but contended that in 
fact they had been wrong. He implied that the 
misdelivery of the ballots had been “a mistake 
made on purpose,” the “mistake” apparently hav-
ing been made by someone in the County Clerk’s 
Office, and the purpose having been to enable 
Republican leaders to “see if a man was bribed 
if he delivered the goods.” In response, William 

Nottingham noted that the law provided that in 
certain contingencies written ballots could be 
used. Had they been used, he asked, would there 
have been any problem in identifying them; if 
not, then what became of the claim in this case 
that the ballots were illegal because they could be 
identified? On December 4, 1891, Justice O’Brien 
ruled for the Democrats.39 

In an interview, Justice O’Brien described his 
appointment to the extraordinary special term 
as “personally . . . embarrassing and displeasing 
[but] obligatory.”40 When he arrived in Syracuse, 
he had found the situation “delicate,” but he 
consulted immediately with Justice Kennedy to 
avoid conflict.41 The judges and the lawyers got on 
well enough that the night before Justice O’Brien 
returned to New York City, they all enjoyed a din-
ner at the Vanderbilt Hotel in Syracuse.42 	

The General Term of the Third Department 
convened as promised by Hill.43 The parties sub-
mitted on the papers below, and the General Term 
affirmed without opinion. The case the went to 
the Court of Appeals. 

O.U. Kellogg to Gov. David B. Hill, Nov. 30, 1891
Courtesy of the NYS Library/Manuscripts & Special Collections Unit
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In his brief to the Court of Appeals, Nottingham, 
on behalf of Peck, argued that “the only conclusion 
at which a rational mind can arrive is that if any 
ballots [bearing the number of the wrong election 
district] were voted, it came about from an inadver-
tent mistake in the distribution of the official ballots 
by the County and Town Clerks . . .“44 Nottingham 
stated correctly that it was not disputed that the bal-
lots had been official, the voters who had used them 
had been without fault, no other ballots had been 
available, and the voters who had used the ballots 
had intended in good faith to vote for Rufus Peck for 
Senate.45 The practical question, asserted Nottingham, 
is “whether these twelve hundred and eighteen elec-
tors shall be disenfranchised by a trivial mistake . 
. . to which the inspectors of election were in no 
manner parties, and of which these electors were the 
innocent victims.”46 	  

Nottingham pointed out that each contested 
ballot complied with the literal terms of the legal 
requirement that each ballot bear “the designation of 

the polling-place 
for which the bal-
lot is prepared.”47 
The delivery of a 
ballot to a polling 
place other than 
the one for which 
it had been pre-
pared did not alter 
this fact. Therefore, 
he concluded, the 
ballots were within 
the letter of the 
law. 

Nottingham 
noted that Section 
21 of the Ballot 
Reform Law pro-
vided that if the 
official ballots 
were not avail-
able at the polling 

place, voters could use unofficial ballots, printed or 
written,“made nearly as possible in the form of the 
official ballots . . . .” If one considered the Republican 
ballots bearing the wrong district number not to 
be the “official ballots” for that district then, under 
the circumstances, they had certainly been made “as 
nearly as possible” in the form of the official ballots. 
Therefore, he argued, Section 21 authorized their use 
as unofficial ballots. Of course, he said, if the elec-
tion inspectors had noticed that the wrong ballots 
had been delivered, then instead of allowing voters 
to use the wrongly labeled official ballots as unof-
ficial ballots, they could have directed the voters to sit 
down and write out ballots “as nearly as possible in 
the form of the official ballots,” but bearing the cor-
rect number of the election district. However, to have 
done so with the official (albeit misdelivered) ballots 
at hand, Nottingham argued, would have put the vot-
ers “in great peril of being committed to some insti-
tution for the care of the mentally enfeebled without 
the intervention of a jury or physician.”48 As Marshall 
had anticipated, Nottingham argued that only an 
intentional marking for purpose of identification was 
prohibited by the law.49 

Finally, Nottingham argued that the right to vote 
was as venerable as constitutional government, but 
the secrecy of the vote “has not been considered an 
inseparable incident in any age or country.”50 Since 
the key objective of the Ballot Reform Law had been 
to ensure the secrecy of the vote, Nottingham wisely 
placed this argument near the end of the brief, and 
made it summarily.

Marshall, (With O.U. Kellogg also on the brief) 
on behalf of Nichols, established his theme on page 
10 of his brief: 

The purpose of the [Ballot Reform] [A]ct is 
clearly stated in its title, which is a fair index 
of its contents. It is to promote the indepen-
dence of voters and to enforce the secrecy of 
the ballot.51 

He explicitly disclaimed two of the three argu-
ments recited in Kellogg’s letter to Hill, and relied 
only on the argument that the ballots should not 

Justice George N. Kennedy
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be counted because they did not bear the proper 
indorsement. 52 He argued that “[t]he provisions, with 
reference to indorsement, were carefully worded and 
designed to maintain, at all hazards, as a profound 
secret, the contents of the ballot.” If those provisions 
were not followed, “it would be a matter of utmost 
simplicity for poll workers, watchers, and inspectors 
to learn, to an absolute certainty, the contents of every 
ballot voted, and in this manner to mark each ballot 
as effectually as though it had been labeled by the 
voter himself.” This, Marshall argued, was why under 
Section 29 of the Act an improperly indorsed ballot, 
like an intentionally marked ballot, could not be 
deposited in the ballot box, and why Section 31 pro-
vided that no ballot without the proper indorsement 
was to be counted.53 

Marshall noted that Section 21 of the Ballot 
Reform Law applied only if the official ballots did 
not arrive, or were destroyed. In those circumstances, 
Section 21 directed the town or city clerk to prepare 
ballots as nearly in form as possible to the official bal-
lots, but without the indorsement, plus a sworn state-
ment that the ballots had been prepared by the clerk, 
in which case the ballots could be used at the polling 
place.54 However, Marshall pointed out, the ballots in 
question purported to be official ballots, bearing an 
official indorsement. They were, he said, calculated 
to mislead the voter into thinking that he was voting 
an official ballot. (This argument was a little dicey, 
since Point I of Marshall’s brief was that the ballots 
were invalid because they did not bear the official 
indorsement.)55 For substitute ballots to be used, they 
had to bear no indorsement, and the facts had to be 
established by affidavit. Marshall asserted, regarding 
the appellant’s position (and respondent’s response to 
it), as follows: 

The position taken by the appellants is, 
therefore, virtually this: Official ballots were 
furnished by the proper officers, bearing an 
improper indorsement. Because they were thus 
improperly indorsed, it is claimed that such 
official ballots might, under the pretense that 
they are unofficial ballots, be employed for the 
purpose of working the very mischief which 
the act seeks to prevent. For, if the indorse-
ment is improper, in which it does not desig-
nate the polling place at which the ballot is 

to be used, and cannot, therefore, be received 
or counted, how is it possible that such ballot 
can be received and counted as an unofficial 
ballot, because it does not bear the correct 
indorsement?56 

Further (and more to Marshall’s principal point), 
there was no attempt to create uniformity between the 
Republican ballots, on the one hand, and those of the 
Democratic, Prohibition, and Socialist candidates on 
the other. This lack of uniformity breached the secrecy 
of the ballot. 

The case was argued before the Court of Appeals 
on December 15, 1891.57 Nottingham, on behalf of 
Peck, posed and answered what he perceived to be the 
key question in the case:

The practical question upon this branch of the 
case is whether these 1,218 electors shall be 
disenfranchised by a trivial mistake, not in the 
printing but in the mere manual functions of 
distributing the official ballots to the several 
election districts of a town, and of which they 
were the innocent victims? . . . If there was 
any mistake [in distributing the ballots] it 
was an inadvertence. The voters should not 
be deprived of their votes because of that. . 
. . I submit that it is more important that a 
man should vote than that it would be a secret 
ballot. These arguments would make a subor-
dinate feature of voting to the chief one. [sic] 
Would you disenfranchise 1,100 voters? 58 

On Nichols’s behalf, Marshall staked his case on 
the importance of adhering to the letter of the law, 
even when doing so might work a seemingly inequita-
ble result in a particular case, and on the importance 
of the secret ballot. He began: 

The question is as to the efficiency of the 
ballot-reform law. . . . What was the intention 
of the ballot reform law? It was to promote the 
importance of the vote and ensure the secrecy 
of the ballot. . . . 

Frequently, the rights of individual voters have 
to give way to the general good. The intent of 
the law is to have a uniform ballot. 59 
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At the close of argument, Judge Gray noted that 
“the trouble really arose from the fact that a separate 
ballot must be provided for each political party.” 
(Governor Hill had consistently opposed a “blanket” 
ballot, and had vetoed a ballot reform measure that 
had mandated it.60 In any event, Florida’s experience 
in the 2000 Presidential election shows that having 
the names of all candidates on one ballot does not 
necessarily prevent ballot controversies.61 )

On December 29, 1891, the Court of Appeals 
handed down its decision in Nichols. No party to 
the case had credibly contended that the voters who 
cast their ballots in favor of Peck had been at fault. 
Nonetheless, the majority opinion of the Court of 
Appeals, by Judge O’Brien, cast the question posed by 
the case as follows: 

The question now before us is whether those 
citizens of Onondaga county, who used the 
ballots, which the canvassers in this case have 

been ordered by the Supreme Court to reject, 
have so far neglected to observe the forms 
and regulations prescribed by law for voting 
at elections, that their votes so cast must be 
held to be void. . . . [I]t is the duty of this 
court to declare the law as it finds it; and if a 
fair consideration of the language used in the 
statute, and its general policy, should result in 
the exclusion of the ballots in question, it may 
be said that it was not the first time that a 
citizen attempted to exercise a right, and either 
through neglect, mistake, or ignorance, failed 
in the accomplishment of his object.62 

The Court correctly noted that the Ballot Reform 
Law had been a matter of great public interest and 
debate, and capably described its purpose and method: 

[T]he principal mischief which the statute was 
intended to suppress, was the bribery of voters 

The 1890 Court of Appeals
From left: Judges Finch, Gray, Andrews, Chief Judge Ruger, Judges Earl, O’Brien and Peckham

Courtesy of the New York Court of Appeals Collection

Ballot Reform and the Election of 1891



J U D I C I A L  N O T I C E         l     29

at elections, which had become an intolerable 
evil, and this was to be accomplished by so 
framing the law as to enable, if not compel, 
the voter to exercise his privilege in absolute 
secrecy. When it was made impossible for the 
briber to know how his needy neighbor voted, 
the law makers reasoned that bribery would 
cease.63

The Court reasoned that “any construction of 
this statute which would permit ballots to be cast and 
counted that would reveal the way the voter using 
them voted, should be avoided as contrary to the true 
policy and intent of the law.”64 The court noted that 
the indorsement was to be the only mark visible on a 
ballot when it was being deposited in the ballot box, 
and emphasized the requirement that indorsements 
be uniform. It continued: 

The ballots in question were cast in utter disre-
gard of this important provision of the statute . 
. . . The indorsement upon them differed from 
the regular indorsement on all the other ballots 
used or voted at the same polling place, and, 
as they were used or voted by but one of the 
parties that had made nominations . . . , the 
voters who used them necessarily disclosed to 
the election officers, watchers, and such of the 
bystanders as could and desired to observe, the 
candidates voted for, and thus not only the let-
ter of the statute was disregarded, but its very 
purpose and intent defeated.65 

The Court stated, albeit without any support in 
the record, that “it is scarcely possible that the means 
of distinguishing them from all the other ballots used 
were not known to . . . many of the voters who used 
them.”66 Even if the voters did not know, the Court 
concluded that:

[t]he plain words of the statute . . . made it 
the duty of the election officers, when offered 
one of these ballots, . . . to refuse it. This 
would not defeat the right of the elector to 
vote, because he could still prepare and tender 
a ballot with the proper indorsement.67 

To the contention that its decision would dis-
enfranchise voters who had cast their ballot in good 
faith, the Court answered that the law could not help 
them, and they should be more careful next time. 
“The law,” the Court explained, “contemplates that 
the elector will not blindly rely upon anyone, not 
even the election officers, in the preparation of the 
ballot.”68 (Actually, by abolishing all but official bal-
lots, the Ballot Reform Law in fact required voters 
for the first time to rely upon the government in the 
preparation of the ballot.) It was the duty of the vot-
ers to see that “so important a part of the ballot as the 
indorsement” conformed to the statute.69 

Once the voters were aware of the improper 
indorsement, those desiring to vote Republican could 
have used paster ballots on the Democratic, Socialist, 
or Prohibition ballots.70 (There is no evidence in 
the record that any such pasters had been prepared 
or were available in the districts in question. Since 
the government was preparing the ballots and since, 
under Section 25, a voter could write in a name on 
an official ballot, there was little incentive for a voter 
to bring a “paster.”) However, the Court concluded, 
even if the voters did not know and had no way of 
knowing that the ballots were improperly indorsed, it 
was still better that their vote be deemed ineffectual 
than that the fundamental purpose of an important 
public statute be disserved and the door thrown  
open to a revival of the evils that the statute sought 
to prevent. 

In a concurring opinion, Chief Judge Ruger, 
joined by Judge Gray, smelled a rat. He contended 
that the Republicans in Onondaga County had inten-
tionally mixed up the ballots so that they could deter-
mine who had voted for whom, and could enforce 
party discipline.71 Since the law made revealing one’s 
vote to anyone in a polling place a misdemeanor, the 
Republican voters were, in Judge Ruger’s view, crimi-
nals. Judge Ruger also twisted the law’s knife into the 
bleeding hearts of those who had advocated for the 
Ballot Reform Law. He said: 

But it is urged that a strict construction of the 
law must result in disfranchisement. This is 
true, but the law plainly contemplates such a 
result, and who can complain, except those 
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who are opposed to any restrictions whatsoever 
upon the action of an elector? No advocate of 
the Reform Ballot Law can justly criticize a 
result which was in the minds of its authors 
when the law was drafted and enacted.72 

Regardless of one’s view of the outcome of the 
case, the Court majority’s decision to blame the voters 
was unseemly, at best. The record did not support any 
contention that any of the voters had known of the 
problem with the indorsements. Even if they had, it is 
highly unlikely that they would have known the cor-
rect action to take. According to the Court’s decision, 
each Republican voter apparently had to conclude 
that there were at the polls neither official ballots 
nor ballots that had been prepared by local officials 
but that were “unofficial” in the sense that they did 
not bear the official indorsement, so that the correct 
procedure was for each Republican voter to prepare 
his own ballot, which presumably would have borne 
the names of the same candidates as the government-
printed ballots that were not being used.73 

As a practical matter, as McClure pointed out in 
Onondaga County Supreme Court, these hand-made 
ballots would not have been identical to the official 
ballots cast for Democrats and minor party candidates, 
so an observer would have been able to determine 
who had voted for the Republicans. An alternative 
would have been for the Republican voter to make a 
“paster,” and paste it into another party’s ballot. Since 
a “paster” had to be printed in the same type face as 
the regular ballots, a paster could not be made on the 
spot.74 Since, by law, a voter was to receive an official 
ballot, there was no incentive for a Republican voter 
to prepare a Republican paster in advance. 

A question addressed by neither the parties nor 
the courts was what the Democratic voters should 
have done, and what the courts should have done 
with the Democratic votes. A voter who, in the 
districts in question, had cast a ballot with the cor-
rect indorsement was, in effect, telling those present 
that he was not voting a Republican ballot. Given 
the small number of votes for the Socialist and 
Prohibitionist candidates, he was all but telling those 
present that he was voting Democratic. But would it 

be fair to punish a Democratic voter when the error 
was on the Republican ballot? Recall that, before 
entering the voting booth, each voter was given one 
ballot for each party, and that the voter had the duty 
of folding each ballot so that all looked identical. One 
ballot was placed in the ballot box and the others 
were placed in the discard box. If the consequence of 
the incorrect indorsement of the ballot of one party 
was that the secrecy of the ballot was breached, then 
would it not be fair to require all voters--Democratic 
and Republican--to determine that all ballots were 
properly indorsed? If the Democratic voters breached 
this duty, should they not have suffered the same fate 
as the Republican voters? If both the Republican and 
Democratic votes in the districts in question had been 
voided, then Peck would have been elected by a mar-
gin of 248 votes.75 However, the text of the law did not 
support this approach. Section 31 of the Ballot Reform 
Law said plainly, “No ballot that has not the printed 
official indorsement shall be counted . . . .” The text of 
the law refers to ballots that are counted and not bal-
lots that are discarded. 

In a separate concurrence, Judge Gray took a 
more forthright view of the case. Even if, as “it may be 
conceded,” the misdelivery of the ballots had been a 
mistake, and even if the voters had been blameless, the 
Ballot Reform Law, by its plain terms, required that 
the ballots in question be held invalid.76 He reluctant-
ly concluded that the Court should not bend, break or 
ignore the terms of the Law in order to save the ballots 
that plainly had been intended to be cast for Peck and 
that would have changed the results of the election, 
for to do so would eviscerate the Law. He said: 

This is not a case for the court to strain after 
explanation, in order to remedy an apparent 
hardship; when to do so simply results in emas-
culating a provision of the law, the existence of 
which is calculated to exclude all attempts at 
fraudulent or corrupt practices at the polls. It 
will not do to break down any of the provisions 
of this law framed against a possible corrupt 
vote, lest in so doing the way be left open for 
a more radical destruction. The people are 
supremely interested in protecting the citizen 
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voter against the prostitution of his character 
in the casting of a venal ballot.77 

Judges Andrews and Peckham wrote in dissent. 
(Judge Finch also dissented, without opinion.) Judge 
Andrews wrote that not only was there nothing in the 
record to support fraud, but that the parties had stipu-
lated it out of the case.78 He dismissed as contrary to 
the record any idea that the mixup had been discov-
ered at any polling place by any voter or bystander.79 

He said that it was “[in]conceivable that it was 
the intention of the legislature . . . to place upon the 
voter the responsibility of ascertaining whether an 
official ballot delivered to him corresponds in every 
particular, in form, size, and indorsement, with the 
description in the statute at the peril, in case of mis-
judgment, of a forfeiture of his vote.”80 He argued that 
the purpose of Section 31 of the Ballot Reform Law, 
which provided that ballots not bearing the official 
indorsement should not be counted, was to prevent 
the use of unofficial ballots, a situation not relevant to 
the case at hand, since the ballots that had been used 
had in fact been official. He said that the purpose of 
putting the number of the election district on a ballot 
was to ensure that the county clerk prepared and dis-
tributed enough ballots to each district, as required by 
law, not to identify a ballot as official. Since the bal-
lots had been official, he said, nothing in the law gave 
the election inspectors the right to reject them. He 
opined that the Court’s decision would cause more 
fraud than it prevented, since”[c]orrupt officials can, 
with reasonable safety, tamper with the distribution 
of ballots and allege mistake, which it will be hard to 
disprove.”81 

In dissent, Judge Peckham started with the posi-
tion that “[w]here any particular construction which 
is given to an act leads to gross injustice or absurdity, 
it may generally be said that there is fault in the con-
struction and that such an end was never intended or 
suspected by the framers of the act,” and found the 
majority’s construction one which “certainly tends to 
bring the law itself into contempt.”82 Like Andrews, 
he offered a number of constructions of the Law that 
would not have required the invalidation of the votes 
at issue. 

Nichols was one of two decisions handed down by 
the Court of Appeals on the same day that resulted in 
a state Senate seat going to a Democrat who undoubt-
edly had received fewer votes than his Republican 
opponent. In the other case, People ex rel. Sherwood 
v. State Board of Canvassers,83 the Court held that the 
victorious Republican candidate in the 27th senato-
rial district, who early in 1891 had been appointed a 
park commissioner in Hornellsville, was an “officer 
under a city government” and, therefore, under Article 
3, Section 8, of the State Constitution, ineligible 
for state legislative office. The Democratic candi-
date was seated by the Senate. The judgment of the 

“How to Vote”
The Evening Herald, February 2, 1891, Page 1 
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Republicans in nominating their candidate is difficult 
to fathom and the outcome of the case is difficult to 
fault, even if, during his campaign, the Democrat had 
pledged not to contest the Republican’s eligibility if 
the Republican won the election. 

An even more notorious case decided that day 
also went in favor of the Democrats. In People ex rel. 
Daley v. Rice,84 also decided on December 29, 1891, 
the Court issued what the State Board of Canvassers 
perceived as (or persuaded themselves to interpret 
as) an order that did not effectively prevent the State 
Board from awarding the Senate seat in the 15th 
district to a Democrat based upon what was widely 
regarded as a fraudulent canvass of votes in Dutchess 
County.85 

At the end of the day, Hill had slain the reform-
ers with their own sword, gaining control of the state 
Senate. He went off in triumph, more or less, to the 
United States Senate. Deputy Attorney General Isaac 
Maynard, who had represented the State Board of 
Canvassers in Nichols, Sherwood and Derby, and had 
both advised the Democrats and appeared for the 
State Board of Canvassers in Daley, had done his 
boss’s bidding well. He was named by Hill to the 
Court of Appeals in January 1892. 

Their glory proved transitory, however. On March 
23, 1892, the New York City Bar Association issued 
a scathing report condemning Maynard’s conduct in 
the Daley case.86 When Maynard ran for election to 
the Court of Appeals in 1893, he lost by more than 
100,000 votes, “a staggering margin at the time.”87 His 
defeat was said to have been “the turn of the tide that 
was to give the Republicans sixteen unbroken years of 
complete control of the State government.”88 

The Democrats were so unpopular following 
the events of 1891, and Hill was deemed so much at 
fault, that the Democratic party insisted that he run 
for Governor in 1894, in part because no one else 
would.89 He lost by more than 150,000 votes. Having 
regained control of the State, the Republicans, not 
surprisingly, declined to re-elect Hill to the Senate 
in 1896. He was never again a candidate for public 
office.90 

The court session of December 29, 1891, was the 
last public appearance of Chief Judge Ruger, who died 
January 14, 1892, at his home in Syracuse.91 

Judge O’Brien, who decided the Nichols case at 
special term, went on to have a distinguished career.92 
He was, among other things, a trustee of the New York 
City public schools, Corporation Counsel of the City 
of New York, and Presiding Justice of the Appellate 
Division. For his considerable charitable and civic 
work, he was, among other honors, knighted by the 
Pope and named a Chevalier of the Legion of Honor 
by the French Government. Upon his death in 1937, 
the New York Times remarked that the most impor-
tant work of his early career was the Nichols case.93

The Ballot Reform Law was repealed in 1892, 
but its replacement, a codification of the Election 
Law, included the former law’s most important provi-
sions, and added a new one: The official indorsement 
on a ballot was no longer to include the number of 
the election district.94 The year 1892 saw another 
important development: In a municipal election in 
Lockport, New York, voters first used a lever-operated 
voting machine.95 

The Ballot Reform Law of 1890 was the culmina-
tion of a long struggle by reformers in New York State 
against what they perceived as widespread corruption 
of the electoral process by machine politicians. The 
great change that the Law wrought in New York is 
evidenced by the fact that no opinion in Nichols cited 
a New York case in support of its construction of the 
law. The majority opinion cited nine cases from five 
states in support of its holding that the letter of the 
law should be enforced, even if, in the specific case 
before the court, the law would seem to thwart the 
will of the majority of the electorate.96 The outcome 
of Nichols therefore was very much in step with other 
states’ interpretation of their election reform laws. 

Although Nichols was last cited in an election 
context in 1909, its core principle endures. As the 
Court of Appeals said in Gross v. Albany County Board 
of Elections97 more than 100 years after Nichols, “Broad 
policy considerations weigh in favor of requiring strict 
compliance with the Election Law . . . [for] a too-
liberal construction . . . has the potential for inviting 
mischief on the part of candidates, or their supporters 
or aides, or worse still, manipulations of the entire 
election process.”98 But the contrary urge also endures. 
In Gross, 27 absentee voters did exactly what they had 
been told to do by election officials of both parties, 
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but their ballots were nonetheless invalidated because 
the election officials had been wrong. The dissent in 
Gross urged flexibility: 

Experience has shown that too many elections 
have been touched, if not infused, by fraud, 
and that we need rules to keep the process 
honest. To be sure, some rules require the most 
stringent enforcement if the system is to func-
tion. Others, however, can and should tolerate 
some flexibility. This is particularly so when, as 
here, the strict application of the rule does not 
further the Election Law’s objectives. We have, 
at times, construed the Election Law’s rules 
to disenfranchise voters. When we did, it was 
because we felt that on balance a more permis-
sive interpretation would threaten the process 
or future elections. Thus, while I do not see the 
majority’s opinion as grudging or as evincing a 
hidebound, technical character, the scales here 
tip in favor of the voter.99 

The majority in Gross replied as follows: 

The dissent suggests that the challenged absen-
tee ballots should be canvassed despite the 
Board’s departure from the qualification process 
because the voters who cast the ballots were 
innocent of any wrongdoing. This is certainly 
true in the sense that the voters’ reliance on 
the Board’s mistake was understandable--but 
this same rationale could be applied virtually 
any time a board fails to comply with statu-
tory directives governing voting. Reliance on 
board actions or directives will almost always 
be reasonable since few voters have sufficient 
familiarity with the Election Law to catch an 
error and most have little reason to question 
voting procedures. Thus, an exception predi-
cated on voter innocence would swallow the 

rule, effectively relieving election officials of 
their obligation to adhere to the law. For these 
reasons, we agree with the Appellate Division 
majority that to overlook a substantive error of 
this magnitude would invite future impermis-
sible deviation from statutory requirements that 
have been devised to ensure fair elections. 100 

Over the years, legal reforms such as the Ballot 
Reform Law, have been largely successful in eradicat-
ing bribery of individual voters. Legal reform and 
technological advances have resulted in retail vote 
purchases being replaced by media buys. Campaign 
spending has increased greatly, while any direct 
financial benefit to individual voters has largely 
disappeared.101 The apparent economic inefficiency 
and, at least arguably, unfairness of this system are 
plausibly justified on grounds of morality and public 
policy.102 The recent decision of the United States 
Supreme Court in Citizens United v. Federal Election 
Commission,103 freeing corporations from certain 
restrictions on campaign spending, seems likely to 
further this trend.

Meanwhile, at least in New York State, the actual 
balloting process has for the most part remained 
mired in the 19th-century technology of the lever-
operated voting machine.104 However, the advent 
of electronic voting systems, hastened by the Help 
America Vote Act of 2002105 and other laws viewed by 
some as reforms, promises to usher in an era in which 
votes may be miscast or miscounted by the megabyte 
rather than merely by the bushel. In the brave new 
world of free spending and electronic voting, the 
unanticipated consequences of the Ballot Reform Law 
may serve to remind us that reform comes at a price 
and that, as the late Charlie Torche would remind 
patrons of the bar of the University Club in Albany, 
“Honesty is no substitute for experience.”106   
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1.	 	� N.Y. Laws 1890, ch. 262, as amended in many impor-
tant respects by N.Y. Laws 1891, ch. 296.

2.	 	 �A voter who kept a promise to vote as the briber 
wished was dishonest as to the voting process; a voter 
who breached his promise was dishonest toward the 
briber.

3.	 	 �Cf. Hill Explains His Views, N.Y. Times, January 8, 
1890: “It is wholly unlikely that the briber will ac-
cept the word of the voter as to what ticket the latter 
voted. There is little mutual confidence in such cases 
. . . .”(All citations to the New York Times are to the 
Times’s archive available on the internet. The archive 
does not give the edition, section, or column, and in 
most cases does not give the page.)

4.	 	 �Early efforts to require parties to print identical-look-
ing ballots were not viewed as a success. See N.Y. Laws 
1880, ch. 366, § 1.

5.	 	 �N.Y. Laws 1890, ch. 262, §§ 1, 16, 17, 24, & 25, as 
amended by N.Y. Laws 1891, ch. 296, §§ 5, 6, 11, & 
12.

6.	 	 �N.Y. Laws 1890, ch. 262, § 29, as amended by N.Y. 
Laws 1891, ch. 296, § 15.

7.	 	 N.Y. Laws 1890, ch. 262, § 21.

8.	 	 �Id., as amended by N.Y. Laws. 1891, ch. 296, § 16. A 
voter could identify a ballot as his own, and thereby 
earn his bribe, by, for example, writing in his own 
name as a candidate in an uncontested or lightly con-
tested race. See infra note 33.

9.	 	 �N.Y. Laws 1890, ch. 262, § 35, as amended by N.Y. 
Laws 1891, ch. 296, § 18.

10.	 	 �Governor Hill had vetoed an act under which each 
ballot would have borne the names of all of the can-
didates for each office. The voter would have marked 
the names of the candidates for whom he intended 
to vote. Hill noted that the when the state constitu-
tion was enacted, guaranteeing election by “ballot,” 
a “ballot” was, by statute, “a paper ticket, which shall 
contain written or printed, or partially written and 
partially printed, the names of the persons for whom 
the elector intends to vote, and shall designate the 
office to which each person so named is intended by 
him to be chosen.” Hill argued that this form of “bal-
lot” therefore was guaranteed by the constitution, and 
that under the statute, a “ballot” contained only the 

names of those persons for whom the voter intended 
to vote. Hill Explains His Views, N.Y. Times, January 8, 
1890.

11.	 	 �Hill Explains His Views, N.Y. Times, January 8, 1890. 
To belabor the obvious, “pasters” were also dear to 
machine politicians because a party worker could 
ensure that an illiterate elector voted properly by 
giving the elector a “paster,” some glue, and whatever 
inducement the worker thought appropriate under the 
circumstances. At the polling place, a voter wishing to 
use a “paster” was given one ballot for each party with 
a candidate. The voter glued his “paster” inside one of 
those ballots, folded all of the ballots, deposited the 
ballot with the “paster” in the ballot box, and depos-
ited the other ballots in the discard box. Laws 1890, 
ch. 262, § 25, as amended by Laws 1891, ch. 296, § 
12. The Ballot Reform Law also provided for write-ins.

12.	 	 Id.

13.	 	 �Given the relatively small number of votes cast for 
third party candidates, it was also possible after the 
factto tell with near certainty who voted for the Demo-
crat. For example, in the first district of Camillus, 
Peck received 159 votes, Nichols received 147 votes, 
and the third party candidate received 19 votes. If an 
observer saw a voter cast a ballot bearing the correct 
district number, the chances were 147 out of 166 that 
he had voted for Nichols. This circumstance was not 
relied upon by the Republicans in arguing their case, 
which is described hereafter. See Record on Appeal at 
89-90, People ex rel. Nichols v. Board of County Canvass-
ers of Onondaga County, 129 N.Y. 395 (1891), which is 
available in the New York State Library/Manuscripts & 
Special Collections Unit.

14.	 	 �The Onondaga Mistake, N.Y. Times, December 16, 
1891.

15.	 	 �Peck’s Certificate Filed, N.Y. Times, November 20, 1891.

16.	 	 Id.

17.	 	 �Letter dated November 25, 1891, from David B. Hill to 
Hon. Hugh McLaughlin. Hill papers, Box 56, volume 
4. (Citations are to the David Bennett Hill Papers, 
1872-1926, which are available in the NYS Library/
Manuscripts & Special Collections Unit.)

18.	 	 �Letter dated November 26, 1891, from James W. 
Ridgway to David B. Hill. Box 4, folder 3.(See n.17 for 
italics full citation)
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19.	 	 �People ex rel. Munro v. Board of County Canvassers of 
Onondaga County, 129 N.Y.469 (1891); People ex rel. 
Ryan v. Board of County Canvassers of Onondaga County, 
129 N.Y. 652 (1891).
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(1908–1991)
Court of Appeals, 1967–1978
Chief Judge, 1974–1978

Charles David Breitel

by James W. B. Benkard

C
HARLES BREITEL,1 THE 30TH CHIEF JUDGE OF THE NEW YORK 
STATE COURT OF APPEALS was a brilliant, complex, energetic, 
and quietly ambitious man whose modesty and rigorous standards 
never allowed him to quite appreciate what a remarkable life he 
led. His was a wonderful American story: offspring of immigrant 
parents; a scholarship student at the finest educational institutions 

who learned his trade while enduring the harshest years of the Great Depression; a 
64-year marriage that started with an elopement; a close relationship with Thomas 
Dewey that nearly led him to a seat on the Supreme Court of the United States; 

This biography of Charles D. Breitel appears in The Judges of the New York Court of Appeals: A Biographical 
History, edited by Albert M. Rosenblatt, and published in 2007 by Fordham University Press. The book features 
original biographies of 106 chief and associate judges of the New York Court of Appeals and is a unique resource. 
It is available for purchase from major book retailers, directly from Fordham University Press (800.996.6987), and 
on our website.
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and almost 30 years as a judge—at nisi prius, the 
Appellate Division, and finally, the Court of Appeals 
where he initiated and helped implement significant 
reforms that shaped our modern system of justice. 
Along the way, he served as husband, parent, teacher, 
counselor, and friend to legions who remember him 
with respect, occasional trepidation, and great affec-
tion.

Judge Breitel really did “love the law”; indeed, he 
once wrote that he “love[d] the court system,” not a 
commonly expressed view.2 He cared deeply for the 
Court of Appeals, which he unabashedly described 
as the “greatest Court in the nation . . . surpass[ing] 
the Supreme Court by far.”3 And, this was a man who 
knew his neighborhood. After all, he had participated 
at all levels of the New York legal system, from a clerk 
at a small law firm to the highest judicial office in 
the state. He had pride and affection in his city, the 

“greatest megalopolis of the western hemishere,”4 and 
his early immersion in that commercial cauldron laid 
the groundwork for many of the most sophisticated, 
yet practical “business” decisions ever issued by any 
court. Perhaps most of all, he reveled in the elegant 
interaction of the three branches of government, a 
structure that he believed actually works even if, from 
time to time, stalwart guardians such as himself had 
to take unpopular, even courageous, stands, to ensure 
that none of the three bodies overstepped its bounds. 
But, to truly understand this fascinating and signifi-
cant man, we have to start at the beginning.

As a Youth

Judge Breitel’s mother and father, Herman and 
Regina Breitel, emigrated with their three daughters, 
from Lwow (now in Ukraine) to the United States in 
the early days of the 20th century. Judge Breitel was 
born in New York on December 12, 1908. Two years 
later, his father died.

A forceful woman (she obtained her driver’s 
license in 1907), Mrs. Breitel supported her four 
young children by selling hats at a Lower East Side 
store. Judge Breitel attended the Evander Childs High 
School in the Bronx and then went, on a scholarship, 
to the University of Michigan where he earned what 
money he could by working as tutor, and as a cashier 
in a movie theater.5 In his sophomore year, he met 
a costudent, Jeanne Hollander, and they dated for a 
week. They broke up, after a disagreement over a tie 
she had given him, but, six weeks later, they “made 
up” and eloped, marrying in Howell, Michigan, on 
April 9, 1927. He was 18; she was 19. Judge Breitel 
later explained he had married his wife for her “lec-
ture notes.” 

Both Breitels started at Michigan Law School; 
Jeanne graduated from there while the judge spent his 
last two years at Columbia Law School.6 The rigors of 
the Depression marred their early years together in 
New York City; indeed, his daughter, Eleanor, recalls 
the judge telling her that food was so scarce that, on 
one occasion, he actually fainted in the street from 
hunger. On his graduation from law school in 1933, 
Judge Breitel was able to secure a job as a clerk in a 
small firm, which, not long thereafter, failed. 

Charles Breitel

Judge Breitel, circa 1910–1911.
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As a Young Man

At the age of 26, 
Judge Breitel’s life 
took a decided turn 
for the better when he 
came to the attention 
of District Attorney 
Thomas E. Dewey. As is 
well known, during the 
1930s, Dewey forged a 
reputation in New York 
City as the prototype 
“crusading District 
Attorney and gang-
buster.” By his side, 
holding a succession 
of jobs with increasing 
responsibility, was the 
young Breitel, mov-
ing from the Special 
Rackets Investigation 
Bureau to assistant 
chief of the Indictment 
Bureau and then chief 
of that bureau. Along 
the way, protégés gathered 
and coalesced into a group 
known as “Dewey’s Dozen,” 
consisting of such eminent 
figures as (among others) Stanley Fuld, Whitman 
Knapp, Murray Gurfein, Frank Hogan, and, of course, 
Charles Breitel. Thurston Greene, alive and well at 99, 
is their last survivor.

As Charles Beeching, a former clerk for the judge, 
once observed, the 1930s were an era when “crusad-
ing law enforcement officers were public heroes, and 
the exclusionary rules of evidence . . . and the whole 
spectrum of constitutional guarantees of procedural 
rights were at least a generation away.”7 As the rules 
changed (e.g., Mapp and Miranda), Judge Breitel 
was faithful to their new commands; still, the legacy 
of those formative years as a “crime fighter” can be 
found in such observations by the judge, made 30 
years later, as: “We may prate about acquitting nine 
guilty men rather than risk the conviction of one 

innocent but we in fact 
shudder at the idea of 
turning loose nine guilty 
men capable of commit-
ting crimes of violence 
and grave depredation.”8

During the brief 
period between the ter-
mination of his service 
as district attorney and 
election as governor 
of New York, Dewey 
demonstrated his regard 
for his young assistant’s 
abilities by joining 
him in the formation 
of their own law firm, 
Dewey & Breitel. When 
Dewey was elected gov-
ernor, he named Judge 
Breitel as counsel who 
moved, with his family, 
to Albany. The Albany 
years gave Judge Breitel 
a breadth of understand-
ing for, and appreciation 

of, the legislative process 
that played a significant 
role in shaping his judicial 

persona, including, perhaps, his reluctance to inter-
fere unduly with mandates from popularly elected 
bodies.9 

In any event, the trajectory of his career nearly 
veered to the South: It has been often assumed, quite 
accurately, that if Governor Dewey had been elected 
president in 1944 or 1948, Judge Breitel would have 
either become Attorney General or a Supreme Court 
justice. But, the Democrats prevailed, and, in 1950, 
Governor Dewey appointed Judge Breitel to an inter-
im term on the Supreme Court of New York, praising 
his appointee for possessing “the finest legal mind in 
the State.”10 While as a Republican he was defeated 
in his first bid for reelection, he was appointed to 
another interim term and then elected in 1951 for a 
14-year term. 

Charles Breitel

Charles D. Breitel and wife, Jeanne H. Breitel, in Ann Arbor, 
Michigan, at University of Michigan, 1927.
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As a Husband and Father

Judge Breitel had a warm, full family life. He 
often said, cheerfully, that he had been surrounded 
by women all of his life (his mother, three sisters, 
his wife, and two daughters). His daughter, Eleanor 
Alter,11 has become a prominent divorce lawyer, 
while Vivian Breitel has pursued varied and produc-
tive careers in finance and fine arts. Not surprisingly, 
Judge Breitel was a demanding parent: He even edited 
letters sent to him by his children. But he was by no 

means a bookish martinet; he loved baseball games, 
movies, and taking pictures of his family, which he 
developed in his own darkroom. He seldom missed a 
good parade and, during World War II, kept a victory 
garden in Albany. An amateur carpenter, he even built 
a two-room doghouse for a cocker spaniel, given to 
the Breitels by Governor Dewey.

As for his marriage, the most startling, yet beguil-
ing, aspect of his relationship with his wife, Jeanne, 
was how quickly they decided on a union that would 
last for 64 years. The main reason, of course, is that 
they were so much alike: They were both smart, 
sensitive, proud, blessed with a self-effacing wit, and 
fiercely loyal to each other. Both smoked—a lot. 
They even rolled their own cigarettes during the war. 
Perhaps in response to the rigors of the Depression, 
their lifestyle approached the frugal; they never took 
cabs, owned a television set, or went to restaurants. 
Instead, they played chess, read voraciously, raised 
their family, and supported each other in every way 
for a long and happy marriage. 

Early Judicial Appointments

To return to the courts: In 1952 Governor Dewey 
appointed Judge Breitel to a seat on the Appellate 
Division, First Department, certainly one of the 
busiest appellate courts in America. This tribunal is 
charged with hearing appeals from almost every type 
of order issued by the Supreme Court, final or inter-
locutory, substantive or procedural. Consequently, 
in his 14 years of service on this bench, Judge Breitel 
heard appeals in cases encompassing any controversy 
that fell within the broad jurisdiction of the Supreme 
Court. The volume was so great that, even though 
the Appellate Division was a panel court, each judge 
could count on reviewing and deciding anywhere 
from 25 to 35 cases a month. It was during this time 
that Judge Breitel spearheaded the concept of a hot 
bench, which meant reading the briefs and records in 
every case considered by his panel before every argu-
ment. This process, which enlivened and often short-
ened the oral presentations, exponentially increased 

Charles Breitel during his term as counsel to 
Governor Thomas E. Dewey, and at left  
with the Governor with bills awaiting  
signature, circa 1945

Charles Breitel
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the workload of the judges, many of whom had to 
follow young Breitel’s lead, lest they seem less assidu-
ous by comparison.

And it was a strong court, composed of jurists 
who may not have had household names but whose 
reputations shone in the experienced and discern-
ing New York legal community: e.g., Cohn, Botein, 
Steuer, Eager, Dore, Peck, Rabin, and several others. 
Given their extremely busy workloads, these judges 
specialized in the speedy, often terse delivery of 
results, rather than in lengthy opinions, crafted in 
Holmesian prose.12

Quite apart from his judicial burdens, Judge 
Breitel was immersed in numerous legal “extracur-
ricular activities.” During the decade of the 1960s, he 
served as an adjunct professor of law at Columbia, 
a member of the President’s Commission on Law 
Enforcement and the Administration of Justice, 
the Federal Commission on International Rules of 
Judicial Procedure, and the American Law Institute 
Committee on the Model Penal Code. Certainly, his 
clerks helped to some extent on these assignments, 
but he alone performed the vast majority of the tasks, 
writing longhand, hour after hour, late into the night, 
on a series of yellow pads.

But, his major assignment was, of course, at 
25th Street and Madison Avenue, where his work 
was dedicated mainly to resolving controversies and 
absorbing a prodigious amount of the substantive 
and procedural law of New York State. Thus, when 
Gov. Nelson Rockefeller called Judge Breitel late in 
the afternoon in November 1966 to offer him a seat 
on the New York State Court of Appeals, it is safe to 
say that the governor could not have selected a more 
qualified man.

The years in Albany started quietly: Stanley 
Fuld, Judge Breitel’s old colleague from the “Dewey 
Days,” was the chief judge and the new arrival tread 
softly, at least administratively, even though the “cold 
bench” procedures in Albany were not to his lik-
ing. Nevertheless, within two months of his arrival, 
Judge Breitel wrote the majority opinion, upholding 
the validity of a local ordinance banning all off-site 
billboards, a major goal of “aesthetic environmental-
ists.”13 Even as he neared an important milestone in 
his career, Judge Breitel agreed to author the majority 

opinion in a highly controversial case, Byrn v New 
York City Health & Hospitals Corp.,14 which struck 
down a constitutional challenge to a law permitting 
abortion within 24 weeks from commencement of 
pregnancy. Judge Breitel met the core issue head on 
when he wrote, “unborn children have never been 
recognized as persons in the whole sense.”15 There 
were emotional dissents from Judges Burke and 
Scileppi, who claimed links between the law and 
principles espoused by Nazi Germany.16

As Chief Judge

In 1973, as the retirement of Chief Judge Fuld 
approached, the common expectation was that Judge 
Breitel would be nominated by both political par-
ties, and elected, essentially unanimously, as the new 
chief. However, the Democratic Party, “anticipating 
a large turnout of their adherents in [the 1973] New 
York mayoral race, refused to abide by the 60-year-
long precedent of cross-endorsing the senior associ-
ate [Court of Appeals judge]” as the new chief.17 
A prominent negligence lawyer, Jacob Fuchsberg, 
secured the Democratic nomination by winning an 
extremely narrow primary over Judge Jack Weinstein 
of the United States District Court for the Eastern 
District of New York. Mr. Fuchsberg then went on to 
wage an aggressive and expensive campaign for chief 
judge, thereby forcing Judge Breitel into a contest 
that he found unseemly and demeaning. While he 
was proud of his record and confident that he was far 
more qualified for the position, Judge Breitel had no 
taste for self-aggrandizement, let alone the personal 
attacks often associated with elections. 

Nevertheless, the judge was no shrinking violet 
and, of course, he wanted the job. Reluctantly then, he 
hit the hustings (to the extent a judge could), obtained 
the endorsement of the Republican and Liberal Parties, 
made speeches, debated, gave as good as he got, and 
eventually defeated Mr. Fuchsberg and Judge James Leff 
(the Conservative Party nominee who openly preferred 
Judge Breitel) by 300,000 votes.18

So, Charles Breitel was the chief, and while he 
only had four years until retirement to enjoy the job, 
he went to work with a will. The first order of busi-
ness was to call upon the Socratic method, so familiar 
to law students and dear to the chief’s heart.

Charles Breitel
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Thus, almost immediately after his election, the 
Court of Appeals became a “hot bench.” Emulating 
the Appellate Division system, the new chief decreed 
that each judge had to be fully prepared on all cases 
before the oral argument. As a result, spirited and 
informed interchanges between counsel and court 
sharpened the issues, often shortened the presenta-
tions, and usually stimulated meaningful discussions 
on the points that the court found most significant. 
Equally important, the judges’ familiarity with all the 
cases in an early stage of the appellate process helped 
expedite their resolution, diminishing materially the 
time between oral argument and decision.

On a broader front, the chief judge moved 
with equal dispatch. In 1974, he appointed Richard 
Bartlett as the first chief administrator of the state 
court system. Next, he vigorously supported con-
stitutional amendments, passed shortly thereafter, 
which created the central administration of the New 
York courts, as well as the Commission on Judicial 
Conduct.

But, reaching a goal even more important to 
him—abolition of the election process he had been 
forced to endure—required the support and leader-
ship of a most unlikely ally: Gov. Hugh Carey, a 
Democrat from Brooklyn. To achieve that end, a 
constitutional provision in force since 1846, requir-
ing the election of Court of Appeals judges, had to 
be repealed and new legislation passed. Nevertheless, 
a quadrumvirate was formed: Governor Carey, his 
counsel, Judah Gribetz, Judge Bartlett, and, of course 
Chief Judge Breitel. Party divisions were surmounted, 
and the voters approved the required constitutional 
amendment in 1977, thanks, primarily, to a large 
favorable vote from New York City. Popular elections 
were replaced by gubernatorial nominations, selected 
from a list furnished by the Commission on Judicial 
Nomination, with the governor’s choice subject to 
approval by the State Senate.

One of the failings of the New York system, as 
opposed to the federal courts, is the arbitrary retire-
ment age of 70. In the five years prior to 1978, Chief 
Judge Breitel authored a series of significant opinions 
on important issues that illuminate, in a perverse way, 
the wastefulness of losing a judge who was, in point 
of fact, probably in his “judicial prime.” 

Significant Court of Appeals Opinions

In any event, as the chief is said to have told his 
wife, “his opinions were his biography.”19 If so, 1975 
to 1978 was a truly busy period, as the court was 
confronted with a series of major controversies that 
required judicial resolution: 

• 	During the depths of New York City’s fiscal crisis, 
the legislature enacted a three-year moratorium 
to stay actions brought to enforce payment of 
the city’s short-term obligations. The court held 
that the law violated the full faith and credit 
provision of the New York Constitution. As the 
chief judge wrote: “But it is a Constitution that is 
being interpreted and as a Constitution it would 
serve little of its purpose if all that it promised, 
like the elegantly phrased Constitutions of some 
totalitarian or dictatorial Nations, was an ideal 
to be worshipped when not needed and debased 
when crucial.”20

• 	The court, per Chief Judge Breitel, upheld 
the Rockefeller drug laws against an Eighth 
Amendment challenge.21

• 	In a decision that pitted the principles of private 
property rights and legislative deference against 
each other, the court (per the chief judge) ruled 
against the owners of the Grand Central Terminal 
who sought to overturn the city’s landmark pres-
ervation regulation prohibiting construction of 
an office building on top of the terminal.22

• 	Finally, the court upheld a constitutional chal-
lenge to New York’s death penalty. Writing for the 
dissent that contended that the legislature had 
acted within the constitutional bounds, Chief 
Judge Breitel included this revealing footnote in 
his opinion: 

Speaking for myself alone among the dissenters I 
find capital punishment repulsive, unproven to be 
an effective deterrent (of which the [instant] case 
itself is illustrative), unworthy of a civilized society 
(except perhaps for deserters in time of war) because 
of the occasion of mistakes and changes in social 
values as to what are mitigating circumstances, and 
the brutalizing of all those who participate directly 
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or indirectly in its 
infliction.”23

While those who 
have sought to capsu-
lize Charles Breitel’s 
judicial philosophy 
often fasten on the 
“conservative” label, 
the foregoing exam-
ples demonstrate that 
no such pat general-
ization can validly be 
made. And, in language 
as relevant as today’s 
headlines, the Judge himself dismissed such attempts 
as mischievous:

It is customary these days, to a tiresome degree, and 
most often fruitlessly, to classify judges categorically 
by conclusory and all too-encompassing labels: 
conservative–liberal–activist–restrained, pro-this–
anti-that and the like. The stretching for facile labels 
to achieve the nomenclature but not necessarily 
the substance of analysis is an obvious temptation. 
Often a flight from thinking, it results inevitably in 
oversimplification and superficiality. Most judges, 
indeed most people, do not classify so simply. 
Certainly, that should be true of persons engaged in 
an analytical profession in a very complicated world, 
and all the more of those who serve in judicial roles.24

Pursuant to the inflexible statutory command, 
the judge’s 44 years of active public service ended 
on December 20, 1978. For 13 years thereafter, he 
resigned himself to a far quieter, yet still productive, 
phase of his life, practicing law at Proskauer Rose, 
serving as an expert witness, writing, lecturing, and 
enjoying time with his family. Upon his death on 
December 1, 1991, eulogists extolled his manifold 
contributions to law and society; since then, it is fair 
to say that his stature among the great jurists of the 
20th century places him at or near the top.

While these professional encomia would have 
pleased the judge, they would not have come as a 

complete shock. 
What would have 
surprised him was 
the warmth and 
sincerity of the 
expressions of affec-
tion he engendered 
from those who 
knew him best. After 
all, this was a man 
who had declared 
at his retirement: “I 
know that I am not 
an easy man to live 

with. . . . I have to struggle with my character. . . . I 
have a temper that sometimes rages uncontrolled.”25 
Nevertheless, his colleagues, among many others, reg-
istered firm dissents and spoke warmly and publicly 
about his depth of character and generosity of spirit. 
No one said it better than Joseph W. Bellacosa, com-
menting on his beloved mentor:

I would like to share with your readers, our 
professional colleagues, a personal characteristic not 
well known about Judge Breitel—his sage sensitivity. 
He shielded his compassionate and caring side from 
the world, so few were privileged to see behind his 
stern exterior, hardened by the Depression, by the 
demanding responsibilities of high public service over 
five decades and by the jurisprudence of realism which 
he espoused. . . . The Official New York Reports are 
a permanent testament to his greatness as a judge. 
My grateful heart, however, will correspondingly bear 
witness for all time to the memory of a sweet and 
good person.26

Progeny

On Apr. 9, 1927, Judge Breitel married Jeanne 
Hollander, with whom he had three children, Eleanor 
(1938- ), Vivian (1945- ), and Sharon, who died in 
infancy. Judge Breitel passed away in 1991, and his 
wife died four years later. 

Charles Breitel

Marrying a couple, as an Appellate Division justice
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vii, xi.

3.	 Id. at ix.

4.	 Penn Cent. Transp. Co. v City of New York, 42 
N.Y.2d 324, 331 (1976).

5.	 The author is most grateful to Eleanor Alter and 
Vivian Breitel, the daughters of Judge Breitel, 
who were the sources for most of the vignettes 
from the nonpublic life of their father. In 
addition, Michael Scheinkamp of Davis Polk and 
Wardwell provided invaluable research services 
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IN 2008, GLORIA AND BARRY GARFINKEL GENEROUSLY 

OFFERED TO SUPPORT a Society essay contest in memory 
of their son David, and The David A. Garfinkel Essay was 

launched that year. The Garfinkel Essay offers a competi-
tion open to community college students across New York 
State, inviting students to submit essays on topics about the 
State’s legal history for prize money. In 2008, the topic was 
The Courts and Human Right in New York: The Legacy of the 
Lemmon Slave Case. In 2009, it was The New Netherland Legal 
System and the Law of 21st Century New York, and in 2010 our 
subject was The Evolution of Justice Along the Erie Canal. Our 
prize winners have all been terrific young men and women 
of great promise. We decided to target community college 
students as a group that we felt would especially benefit 
from the prize money. Many of these students are working 
to earn tuition money. In 2010, the Society offered $1,500 to 
the contest winner and $1,000 to the runner-up.

Our inaugural 2008 essay winner was Elijah Fagan-Solis. In 2008 
Elijah was a senior at Hudson Valley Community College’s Criminal 
Justice program. Since then, Elijah transferred with all his credits, and a 
Phi Theta Kappa Honor Society transfer scholarship, to the Sage College 
of Albany where he went on quite spectacularly to receive his four-year 
degree from Sage College, graduating with a B.S. in Law and Society, 
magna cum laude, and with program excellence. He was also inducted 
into the Phi Kappa Phi Honor Society. Elijah is now beginning the 
process of applying to law school. We keep in touch with Elijah who 
recently noted his experience and ongoing relationship with the Society 
as inspirational. 

Dawar Jamal, our 2009 First Prize winner, is a student at 
Queensborough Community College. Dawar emigrated to New York 
with his family from India when he was four years old. He attended 
public school in New York City, graduating from Hillcrest High School. 
He has a deep attachment to the history of New York since this is where his family chose to call home when 
coming to the United States. Last we heard from Dawar, he was completing his degree in Business Administration 
at Queensborough (with a 3.6 GPA), and planned to transfer to Baruch College. Dawar expressed an interest in 
pursuing a career in law after graduating from Baruch. 

Leah Marie Reino is our 2010 First Prize winner. She is a student at Genesee Community College (located 
in Batavia between Rochester and Buffalo). Leah entered Genesee at the age of 15 in the fall of 2007. She was 
home-schooled through middle school and then completed her high school requirements through Genesee in 
the spring of 2008. She is now working on her associate’s degree with plans to graduate in the spring of 2011. She 
is currently studying Biotechnology but is now considering law as a possible career avenue.

“I’ve always been interested in the law,” Leah said. “I’m now considering a career in law instead of science. 
(The essay project) has been very eye-opening.” 

THE DAVID A. GARFINKEL ESSAY CONTEST WINNERS

Law Day 2010 
Chief Administrative Judge Ann Pfau & Leah Marie-Reino

Law Day 2009: Top L-R: Frances Murray, Elijah Fagan-Solis, Courtney 
Malewicz (2nd Prize), Dawar Jamal (1st Prize), Marilyn Marcus  Seated:  
Chief Judge Jonathan Lippman, Chief Administrative Judge Anne Pfau

Dawar Jamal
The New Netherland Legal System and the Law of 21st Century New York

Leah Marie Reino
The Evolution of Justice Along the Erie Canal

2009
2010
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DAWAR JAMAL

l

 
The New Netherland Legal System and the Law of 21st Century New York

T he United States takes great pride in its 
tradition of freedoms and rights, stemming 
back to the Bill of Rights, adopted shortly after 

our founding. New York State also has a proud tradi-
tion of rights granted to its citizens. New York City’s 
continuing commitment to diversity has made for 
a history where tolerance and freedom were always 
important issues. Indeed, these rights and privileges 
have a history that precedes the beginning of the 
United States or even of New York as we know it. 
Even in the earliest days of Dutch rule when the col-
ony of New Netherlands had its capital in the city of 
New Amsterdam on Manhattan Island, the issues of 
freedom and equality for women, religious tolerance, 
and the general rights of citizens to participate in 
their government were tested and debated. By tracing 
the developments in these major areas, we can learn 
to better appreciate our own freedoms and rights.

Women’s rights did not become a major issue in 
the United States until the early twentieth century. 
For example, President Woodrow Wilson did not 
urge the Congress to pass the 19th Amendment, 
which granted the franchise to women, until 1920. 
But during the period of Dutch colonialism, women 
had a greater number of rights than those granted 
under English law. In New Netherlands, the level of 
women’s education and literacy was high. Women 
were encouraged to be active members of the society, 
to work businesses and own property (A Legal History 
of New Netherland [hereinafter Legal History], 5). 
Their rights to hold property were upheld by laws 
governing both marriages and inheritances. Under the 
Roman-Dutch law that was in effect in Holland at this 
time, women had the right to choose between marry-
ing a man, manus or usus. The manus marriage made 
a woman “subject to her husband,” whereas a usus 
marriage allowed her to have “substantial legal inde-
pendence from her husband” (Mays, 229). Women in 
usus marriages were able to own property in their own 

names, and they were also allowed to inherit property 
from their husbands. As a result of the marriage and 
inheritance laws in the Dutch colonies, women often 
became business owners and played a substantial role 
in the society and its economy.

Women under English rule, on the other hand, 
did not have any rights. The English femme couvert 
law allowed only for marriages of the manus type 
mentioned above, so women were not able to own 
businesses or to inherit from their husbands. This, 
and similar laws, removed women from the economy 
of the society and prevented them from having any 
rights or autonomy (Mays, 295). This system held 
true in English-governed Long Island, so at the same 
time as women in New Amsterdam could do just 
about everything except hold public office, women in 
Long Island could not (Legal History, 5-6). The differ-
ences in the rights granted to women caused tension 
when the English took over New Amsterdam from the 
Dutch. The English did say that they would uphold 
the rights of women business owners (Mays, 230). 
However, eventually the English laws did come into 
play. Ironically, the Dutch laws more closely mirror 
today’s laws concerning the rights of women than the 
English laws that formed the basis of the New York 
and United States Constitutions.

Religious freedom was also a cornerstone of 
Dutch law. The Netherlands was known worldwide 
for its tolerance: “According to Dutch law, you could 
not be harassed because of your religious beliefs” 
(Shorto, 9). However, the Dutch governor Pieter 
Stuyvesant was one of those Dutch who did not 
believe in religious freedom or tolerance. Since only 
the Dutch Reformed Church, a Protestant church, was 
officially allowed in New Netherlands, Stuyvesant 
persecuted anyone who tried to practice a different 
religion. Although his superiors in the Netherlands 
often overruled him, Stuyvesant wanted to make 
sure only the Reform religion was practiced (Legal 
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History, 17-18). As a result, early on, citizens of New 
Netherlands did not experience the religious freedom 
so common back in Holland.

Stuyvesant’s first major battle came with a 
group of Jews who landed in New Amsterdam from 
Brazil and whom he tried (unsuccessfully) to force 
out (Shorto, 9). However, his biggest fight was with 
many English immigrants, especially Lutherans and 
Quakers, whose practice of Christianity he attempted 
to ban. These actions led to the writing of the all-
important Flushing Remonstrance (Legal History, 
18-19).

The Flushing Remonstrance was an open letter 
addressed to Pieter Stuyvesant, written and signed in 
Vissingen, an area which is now known as Flushing, 
Queens. The Remonstrance called upon “the law of 
love, peace and liberty” and stated that its authors 
“desire . . . not to judge least we be judged, neither 
to condemn least we be condemned, but rather let 
every man stand or fall to his own Master.” The open-
minded tolerance of the document was extraordinary, 
asking Stuyvesant to allow the free public and private 
practice of any religion. Although these principles did 
defend English colonists living under Dutch rule, the 
philosophy behind the Remonstrance was definitely 
Dutch in nature, calling upon the ideals recognized in 
the Netherlands, and certainly not held up in Britain, 
where religious intolerance was helping to create the 
massive colonization of North America (Shorto, 10). 
As a result, the Dutch back in Europe sided with the 
writers of the Remonstrance and against Stuyvesant, 
forcing him to take up a formal policy of religious 
tolerance in New Netherlands. Many believe that 
this episode was a major inspiration both for Article 
1, Section 3 of the New York Constitution, which 
guarantees religious freedom, and of course, for the 
First Amendment to the United States Constitution, 
guaranteeing the free exercise of, and prohibiting the 
establishment of, any religion (Legal History, 10).

In addition to these important freedoms, 
the Dutch colony of New Netherlands, and New 
Amsterdam in particular, played a major role in 
developing the representative government struc-
ture still in practice in New York and in the United 
States. At first, although Holland was a pioneer in 
representative democracy back in Europe, they gave 

“complete administrative and judicial power in New 
Netherlands” to the Dutch West India Company 
(Legal History, 3). To enforce this, the Company 
would call together councils based on which ships 
were in port at that time, following the principle of 
the Dutch “collective decision making process” even 
if there was no actual representation of the citizens 
of New Amsterdam (Legal History, 4). As the colony 
grew, these councils alone could not handle all the 
legal and judicial issues that arose in the governing 
of a city and a territory. So, in 1626, Pieter Minuit 
was appointed Civil Director. Decisions would still 
have to be approved by the Company back in the 
Netherlands, but this new Civil Director governed 
the day-to-day legislative and judicial business in the 
colony. Minuit convened a civil council of five men 
who also served as judges. This body can be viewed 
as the oldest ancestor of the current New York City 
Council (Legal History, 6-7).

For the next few decades, the Company struggled 
with how to continue to enforce the absolute power 
it had been granted despite growing populations of 
non-Company citizens and judges convinced of their 
independent power. The position of Scout Fiscal was 
particularly difficult for the Company and the Dutch, 
because the Company created the position as an 
independent agent to uphold the law even over the 
Council or the Director (Legal History, 1011). Civil 
Director William Kieft tried to reduce both the size 
and the power of the Council, in an effort to return 
to the Company more control over the laws of New 
Amsterdam, but Native American attacks forced him 
to actually expand the Council to eight. These “Eight 
Men” ended up turning against Kieft’s authoritarian 
nature and encouraged the Dutch to replace him as 
Director and to thus give this Council greater power 
in the future (Legal History, 12).

Stuyvesant continued this Council, increasing its 
size to nine, and granting it authority over a broad 
range of issues both legislative and judicial in nature. 
The government of the Netherlands and the Dutch 
West India Company faced continual conflict with 
this Council. However, a compromise ensued which 
folded the Council into a “burgher government,” 
providing for local power but allowing for control on 
larger issues back in Holland (Legal History, 14).
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The English, of course, tried to undo the power of 
this new burgher government which was loyal neither 
to the King nor to Parliament. But even the Duke of 
York could not undo the power Stuyvesant assisted 
the Council to gain. As a result, the English made a 
change in the names, a move that was “merely alter-
ing the burgomaster into a mayor” in terms of the 
title (Daly, 26). This was the beginning of the proud 
tradition of the Mayor of New York City. Through this 
patchwork history, the Dutch and the English succeed-
ed in establishing a City Council, a body that was not 
autonomous but also not forced to uphold the rules 
of the Company, and the position of Mayor, a leader 
who was also independent without being a rogue.

Thus, certain rights and privileges first recognized 
or developed in the Dutch colonial period survive 

to twenty-first century New York City. The rights of 
women to own property and to freely practice one’s 
religion were recognized by the Dutch and actu-
ally resisted by English colonists as well as early 
Americans after the Revolution. New York City, and 
perhaps the United States, owes these ideals to the 
laws of the Dutch legal period. Also, the struggle to 
make a representative, democratic government with 
an executive branch (the mayor) and a legislative 
branch (the Council) began during this Dutch period. 
Although the specifics of these positions in those days 
did not survive, the spirit of representative democracy 
has blossomed and continues to flourish in New York 
City to this day. 
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LEAH MARIE REINO

l

 
M o r e  T h a n  a  C a n a l :  E r i e ’ s  R o l e  i n  C h a n g i n g  t h e  L aw

T he year is 1817. Construction has just 
begun on the greatest project New York 
State has ever undertaken: “Clinton’s Ditch” or 

the Erie Canal. The sound of shovels, men shouting 
and swearing, horses neighing and working resounds 
through the valley. Most of the men are lower-class 
immigrants struggling to make their way in the young 
nation, all of them working and sweating alongside 
each other. 

The Erie Canal was one of the greatest undertak-
ings in the history of the young nation, something 
that would be remembered long after its completion. 
It linked the Great Lakes to the Atlantic Ocean, and 
transported not only goods but also ideas, informa-
tion and culture. It was the “Gateway to the West” 
that permitted pioneers to venture forth and allowed 
farmers to build homesteads farther and farther away 
from the densely populated eastern coast. Grains and 
farm products that would have had to be taken by 
trains could now be transported through the Great 
Lakes into the Erie Canal and out to New York and 
the Atlantic on paddleboats and ships in only a frac-
tion of the time. 

But one very important role, if not the most, that 
the Erie Canal played in America’s history was how it 
irrevocably changed the laws that governed the state 
and ultimately the nation. 

Eminent Domain

In order for the Erie Canal to be built, many laws 
previously put in place by the founding fathers had to 
be re-examined, changed, even eradicated. One issue 
that quickly arose when the canal was first being con-
structed was the issue of eminent domain--the state’s 
right to take private property from individuals for the 
greater good of the population of the state.

The changes to the state’s view of “private proper-
ty” and individual holdings dramatically changed in a 

comparatively short span of time, and in many ways. 
New laws were formed, among them the condemna-
tion theory. The creation of this important concept 
allowed private companies, which had been con-
tracted by the state to build the canal, to legally take 
private property to continue construction. The state 
expanded further on this idea, broadening the mean-
ing of terms such as “just compensation” and “public 
use and domain,” as well as restricting an individual’s 
right to sue for lost property. 

One case that illustrates the changes that 
occurred during this period is Jerome v. Ross, which 
came before the Chancery Court of New York very 
shortly after construction of the canal had com-
menced. The defendant, a private construction 
company hired by the state, took stones and rocks 
from the plaintiff’s property to use in the construc-
tion of the canal. Although the plaintiff sought an 
injunction, Chancellor James Kent found that the 
land owner was eligible to receive only monetary 
compensation. Furthermore, he ruled that since the 
defendant was under the jurisdiction of the state, the 
state was completely justified to enter and take what 
was needed from the plaintiff’s property. The plaintiff 
was denied any compensation and the injunction he 
sought. 

Going back to the Constitution of the United 
States, created only thirty years before, we see a clear 
contradiction. A primary focus of this document was 
the protection of private property: “. . . nor shall any 
State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, 
without due process of law.” The interpretation of 
“due process of law” was altered dramatically by the 
Erie Canal court cases, meaning that, should they need 
to, states could seize a person’s property with little or 
no time spent in court. The changes that occurred dur-
ing the Erie Canal era were among the first of a long 
series of modifications that have dramatically altered 
the way we interpret the Constitution today. 
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Chancellor Kent, backed by New York State 
statutes, reasoned that, since the individual in 
question had suffered no damage to himself or his 
property, the good that the canal would do to the 
private citizen far outweighed any minimal injury 
the plaintiff might have sustained. He realized that a 
balance must be struck between private interest and 
property rights and works in the public interest such 
as the Erie Canal. While the plaintiff would leave 
the court without compensation, there was no dam-
age actually done to him or to the canal. Chancellor 
Kent reasoned that the dam constructed from the 
stones would benefit hundreds, if not thousands of 
people, and thus he concluded that he would deny 
the injunction the plaintiff sought. His reasoning 
illustrates how lawmakers and judges of the time were 
in a groundbreaking new era, in which every decision 
they made had a vital impact on the future of law in 
our state. 

Another example of the erosion of property rights 
of individuals during the construction of the Erie 
Canal is detailed in two cases that occurred only sev-
eral years apart. They both dealt with issues regarding 
the term “public use.” In the first case, it was deter-
mined that land condemned by the state, if it were no 
longer useful to the state for the purpose it had been 
appropriated, would then be returned to its original 
owner. However, the second case’s ruling was com-
pletely different. The court ruled that land, once taken 
by the state through eminent domain, would be held 
regardless of whether it was still serving the purpose 
for which it had been taken.

These two cases highlight, yet again, the shifting 
landscape of law from 1817 on, as new laws were 
created and original laws were dramatically changed, 
if not in letter then in interpretation. The Erie Canal 
was something that the courts and government of 
New York were bound and determined was going to 
be built, even if it meant sacrificing private interests 
at the time. Just a few years separated the two cases 
that concerned the meaning of “public use,” but, in 
that short period of time, the views of the courts had 
changed completely. They had decided that should 
something be for the good of all the people, then sac-
rifices would have to be made. 

Tort Law

Another area of law that was monumentally changed 
by the Erie Canal legal issues was tort law. In this 
instance, in contradiction to the eminent domain 
cases, the courts did not change to a wider interpre-
tation of the pre-existing laws and terms. On the 
contrary, they narrowed their definitions, severely 
restricting the compensation an individual who had 
been hurt by the canal could seek. 

One of the best examples of the new changes 
in tort law was Fish vs. Dodge. The government had 
hired a canal commissioner, who in turn hired an 
independent contractor, the defendant, who was sup-
posed to repair a section of the canal. When he failed 
to do so, the plaintiff suffered considerable property 
damage--one of his horses died, and others were 
severely injured. 

The court’s decision was almost extreme. They 
stated that the commissioner wasn’t liable for the 
contractor’s actions, which was a fairly well estab-
lished precedent at the time. However, they argued 
that the contractor was also blameless in this instance. 
The contractor was a private entity, not a public ser-
vant, and could only be held for breach of contract by 
the state, not by the plaintiff. The plaintiff was thus 
left without compensation, and the commissioner 
and the contractor were both unscathed. 

This, perhaps more than the eminent domain 
laws that emerged at the same time, shows how far 
the state was willing to go to protect the interests of 
the canal. They denied a man whose property was 
directly hurt by the canal any relief whatsoever, and 
also completely blocked action against the respon-
sible parties. 

However, that being said, such a radical position 
was necessary in order for the canal to be constructed 
without constant delay. It can be said with certainty 
that many cases similar to Fish vs. Dodge were never 
even brought to trial. If the guilty commissioner and 
contractors were constantly being brought to justice, 
the construction of the canal would have been labo-
rious and slow, and the court system would been 
flooded with these types of cases. The ruling of Fish 
vs. Dodge discouraged countless others with similar 
cases from bringing their issues to court, and the 
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construction of the canal and the execution of justice 
were expedited. So we can see that it was certainly 
advantageous, and perhaps critical, that the interpre-
tation of tort law be drastically changed in order to 
facilitate the smooth and swift construction of this 
great public work. 

A New Twist on Tort Law

Fast forwarding the clock to the year 2010, we again 
face a similar issue as to the interpretation of tort 
law. This time, however, the interpretation does not 
need to be narrowed, but rather broadened. This new 
threat that the American public now faces often slips 
through loopholes in traditional tort law, and the 
culprits are nefariously hard to locate, let alone hold 
responsible. What are these new monstrosities? Cyber 
criminals. Online fraud, “phishing,” and identity 
theft, which jumped in incidence by 66% from 2003 
to 2004, are steadily becoming more and more of 
an issue that courts are struggling to handle. A dras-
tic change must take place as to how to handle the 
thorny issues of cyber torts, and the path is long and 
treacherous. 

 The author of “Civil Liability On the Internet” 
suggests pursuing a negligence claim to regain lost 
property from Internet Service Providers (ISPs). 
Demanding that service providers keep a closer watch 
on the websites that they host in their domains is 
an important step in catching online criminals. The 
authors also suggest aggressively pursuing Duty of 
Care and Standard of Care. This could be, for exam-
ple, a case of a credit card company, entrusted with 
a plaintiff’s personal information, “allowing” confi-
dential data to be stolen. In other words, there must 
be a certain standard that the company promises to 
uphold, and a clear failing of the company to uphold 
that standard. 

One of the most outstanding problems is that in 
order to prove negligence, an actual injury must have 
occurred beyond that of economic harm. No mat-
ter how much money was lost by the plaintiff, they 
must show personal or property injury. This is often 
impossible in the case of online fraud. However, this 
problem can be overcome by trying to prove a breach 
of contract by the ISP instead.

But yet another barrier exists in this direction. 
Once a plaintiff agrees to a number of contracts by 
clicking the “I Agree” button on a webpage, they have 
probably forsaken any ability to pursue a breach of 
contract claim. It is usually impossible to use an ISP 
without agreeing to these kind of online contracts.

We can see now that it is extremely difficult for 
a plaintiff who lost a significant amount of money 
from identity theft to receive any sort of compen-
sation. So do a brand new set of laws need to be 
designed to deal with the menace of cybercrime? I 
would argue yes. Expanding existing laws would be 
treacherous and difficult to do without compromising 
traditional tort law cases. Creating a brand new set 
of laws and regulation for those cases which can be 
classified as “online” might be difficult, but whether 
we want it or not, our world is now entering a digital 
age. More and more people are using the Internet 
as a tool to do everything from Christmas shopping 
to car rental to banking and, as a result, cybercrime 
is becoming a major threat. With more and more 
people online, identity theft is only going to become 
more and more of a problem, and we must attack it 
with as much vehemence as those cases which occur 
in the physical world.

Again examining how law has evolved from the 
time of the Erie Canal to modern day, we see that the 
rights of private citizens who have been wronged by 
the state or a state agency have changed dramatically. 
A court exists to handle these specific cases, namely, 
the New York State Court of Claims. The New York 
State Thruway Authority, the City University of New 
York, and the Power Authority of the State of New 
York (for appropriations claims only) are all under its 
jurisdiction. 

Eminent domain law has changed since the time 
of the Erie Canal, as shown in a particular case from 
the New York State Court of Claims. In Universal 
vs. The State of New York, the claimant, Universal 
Instruments, owned a considerable amount of land 
that was damaged economically by the appropriation 
of .77 acres by the state. The taking of the claim-
ant’s land cut off any access to the property and its 
industrial facilities from surrounding streets and 
roads. Because of this, the claimant had to construct 
a semi-circular driveway in order to access its fac-
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tory. Universal sought economic compensation for 
this inconvenience and harm to the value of their 
industrial property. Total damages were estimated at 
$1,627,337, and the claimant was awarded $504,155 
in temporary easements and fees. 

Comparing this to the cases during the Erie Canal 
time, such as Jerome v. Ross, we can see that eminent 
domain law has changed. While nothing was awarded 
to the plaintiff in the earlier cases, in Universal v. State 
of New York, there was a settlement that did include 
payment to the injured party. Even though the state 
was fully justified under eminent domain, it acknowl-
edged that it had damaged the economic status of 
the claimant’s property, and consequently provided 
compensation. Still, the principle of eminent domain 
remains the same, in that, should a public work by 
the state benefit more people than it harms, the state 
has every right to take an individual’s property for the 
construction of said public work. 

Another example of the evolution of emi-
nent domain law is the case of the Atlantic Yards. 
The defendant, the Empire State Development 
Corporation (ESDC), stated that it intended to take 
a dilapidated part of Brooklyn and turn it into a 
luxury living area, complete with new housing, an 
expanded rail yard, and a sports arena. In its brief, the 
defendant stated that the building project would “. . . 
eradicate blight at a central, transit-accessible location 
in Brooklyn and redevelop the area with the construc-
tion of civic facilities . . .” (an undertaking henceforth 
referred to as the Project). 

However, the plaintiff argues that the Project 
proposed by the ESDC is unconstitutional and goes 
against all precedent of eminent domain law in New 
York State. In the public use clause of the New York 
State Constitution, it is stated that “private property 
shall not be taken for public use without just com-
pensation.” The appellants argue that one must read 
the term “public use” strictly--that is, something is 
public use if all can access it, without fee or require-
ment on the part of those who wish to access it. The 
new housing would charge rent, and the new arena 
would charge admission, and therefore be selective 
in who could make use of them. This, the appel-
lant argues, goes against the New York State public 
use eminent domain laws. The appellant also cites a 

second instance of unconstitutional use of eminent 
domain. According to Article XVIII, section 6 of the 
New York State Constitution, any state-funded hous-
ing project whose objective is to remove blight “must 
be restricted to displaced low-income residents.”

Reviewing this case, however, I find that the 
appellants are more at fault than the defendants. The 
two arguments that the appellants rely on are heavily 
flawed, as the respondent’s brief states. First and fore-
most, the term “public use” has been changed and 
modified throughout the years, but the interpretation 
that the appellants are using was not even applicable 
in the Erie Canal era. There were taxes to use the Erie 
Canal; therefore, according to the appellant’s brief it 
was not “public use.” However, eminent domain was 
still employed for the acquisition of the property for 
the Canal. No precedent exists for their interpretation, 
and indeed, all precedent states to the contrary. 

Secondly, while the appellant did quote Article 
XVIII, Section 6 correctly, they did not quote it nor 
apply it in its entirety. The entire section from which 
they were quoting hinges on the fact that a project 
eliminating blight would be solely a low-income 
housing project. The Project is not solely a low-
income housing project; rather, it is merely a piece of 
a larger whole. Thus, the appellant’s arguments are 
invalid. 

I can conclude from the Atlantic Yards cases that 
eminent domain has changed over the years, but the 
core concepts realized at the time of the Erie Canal 
are still in place today. They still guide the hand of 
the court system and the laws of New York State.

The Erie Canal was the anvil upon which the 
hammer of the courts changed the shape of the laws 
of New York State and the nation forever, setting 
precedents that still stand in our court systems today. 
The Erie Canal had to be constructed, and would be 
constructed. Laws were created, destroyed and bent 
in the forge of the controversy that swirled through 
our state, laws that are still upholding justice in our 
state today. Through the sweat of the immigrant and 
the deliberation of the courts, we created a shining 
example, proud and more prosperous than ever, that 
would march through much of the 19th century as 
the envy and wonder of all. 
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Ceremony and Reception Honoring Sonia Sotomayor, Justice of 
the U.S. Supreme Court  September 24, 2009  The New York County  
Courthouse Rotunda

The Society was proud to sponsor this special evening presented by Chief Judge 
Jonathan Lippman and the Judges of the New York Court of Appeals. The 
evening honored one of New York’s own legal luminaries upon her remarkable 
achievement of rising to the bench of the U.S. Supreme Court as the first Hispanic 
Justice. Governor David A. Paterson made a special presentation.

2009 Stephen R. Kaye Memorial Program   November 13, 2009   
The New York City Bar Before New York There Was New Netherland:  
Our Dutch Heritage 1609-2009

The Society participated in the remarkable quadricentennial celebration of 
Dutch-American heritage that took place in New York City in the fall of 2009 
by presenting its annual Stephen R. Kaye Memorial Program on New York 
State’s Dutch legal heritage. The program featured a roundtable discussion with 
distinguished writers and scholars, including Russell Shorto, author of the best-
selling book The Island at the Center of the World; Dr. Charles Gehring, noted 

director of the New Netherland Project at the New York State Library where the archives of the Dutch 
colony centered on Manhattan are being translated; and Jean Zimmerman, author of The Women of 
the House: How a Colonial She-Merchant Built a Mansion, a Fortune, and a Dynasty. The discussion was 
moderated by Former Chief Judge Judith S. Kaye and Hon. Albert M. Rosenblatt. The evening began 
with a welcome by NYS Chief Judge Jonathan Lippman. The Society of Daughters of Holland Dames 
arranged for a performance by the U.S. Merchant Academy’s Fanfare Trumpets, and The Holland 
Society was a distinguished sponsor. There was also a reading by Henry G. Miller, Esq. of the 1657 
Flushing Remonstrance, a plea for religious freedom. We are grateful for the support of Proskauer 
Rose LLP which helps make this annual program possible, honoring the memory of the firm’s former 
partner and Trustee of the Society, Stephen R. Kaye.

AA look back
The Society has had an exciting round of events since our last  
publication. I hope many of you were able to participate.  
Our website now offers videocasts of several of these programs.  
Please take a moment to look back with us on past events.

				    Marilyn Marcus, Executive Director 
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2010 Annual Lecture   May 11, 2010  The New York City Bar 
Law, Justice, and the Holocaust: Lessons for the Courts Today

We were very privileged in the past spring of 2010 to present for our annual lecture 
an important program partnering with the United States Holocaust Memorial 
Museum, National Institute for Holocaust Education. The program was conceived 
by Chief Judge Jonathan Lippman who, along with Lauren Kanfer, Chief Judge 
Lippman’s Assistant Deputy Counsel and our Trustee, worked closely with us to 
develop the program. The evening began with a film presentation offered by the 
Holocaust Museum, The Nazi Rise to Power, and remarks by William F. Meinecke, Jr., 

Historian, National Institute for Holocaust Education of the Holocaust Museum. Professor Meinecke 
revealed in chilling detail the gradual process by which the Nazi leadership, with the support of 
judges and lawyers, moved the nation from democracy to dictatorship, and the series of legal steps 
that left millions vulnerable to the racist and antisemetic ideology of the Nazi state. This was followed 
by a provocative discussion lead by Chief Judge Lippman, as moderator, with Professor Meinecke, 
John Barrett, Professor of Law, St. John’s University, & Elizabeth S. Lenna Fellow, Robert H. Jackson 
Center, and the Society’s President, Hon. Albert M. Rosenblatt. The panel engaged in a conversation 
on the vulnerabilities in our present-day legal system, emphasizing the vigilance that must always 
be exercised to maintain true justice in the system. The evening also included a stirring reading by 
Henry G. Miller of the December 17, 1985 remarks by Senior Associate Judge Matthew J. Jasen on his 
retirement from the Court of Appeals recounting how his service in the military impressed upon him 
the importance of the rule of law. 

Revisiting the 1970s Court Reforms: What Made It Happen 
Then?  What Are the Lessons For Today?   
September 16, 2010  New York State Bar Association, Albany

In the fall of 2010, we hosted an event in partnership with the New York State Bar 
Association and its then current President and our Trustee, Stephen P. Younger, 
along with The Fund for Modern Courts. The program opened with an introduction 
by the Society’s President, Hon. Albert M. Rosenblatt, and remarks by Chief Judge 
Jonathan Lippman, who stressed the need to continue the efforts to reform the 
courts that began in the 1970s.  Stephen P. Younger moderated the panel:  former 

Chief Administrative Judge Richard J. Bartlett, Marc Bloustein, who worked in the Office of Court 
Administration as counsel for many years, Michael A. Cardozo, Corporation Counsel, NYC Law Dept., 
who helped create the 1977 court reform amendments as counsel to the Vance Task Force, and Hon. 
John R. Dunne, a former State Senator who served as chairman of the Judiciary Committee.  With their 
unique insights, the panel offered a fascinating discussion of the process of reforming the courts in the 
1970s.
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The 2010 Stephen R. Kaye Memorial Program    
November 2, 2010   The New York City Bar

Robert H. Jackson: Lawyer, Justice, Nuremberger...New Yorker

John Q. Barrett, Professor of Law, St. John’s University, & Elizabeth S. Lenna Fellow, The Robert 
Jackson Center, renowned scholar of Robert H. Jackson, talked about Justice Jackson’s strong 
New York roots in his career culminating as a Justice of the U.S. Supreme Court and Chief U.S. 
prosecutor of Nazi war criminals at the Nuremberg Trials. Henry G. Miller brought Jackson’s 
words to life with his moving readings from Jackson’s arguments. We once again thank 
Proskauer Rose LLP for underwriting the evening, honoring the memory of Stephen R. Kaye.

2009 & 2010 David A. Garfinkel Essay Competition  
Celebrated at the NY Court of Appeals on Law Day    
May 1, 2009,  May 3, 2010

With the generous backing of Gloria and Barry Garfinkel, in memory of their 
son David, the Society offers an essay competition each year inviting community 
college students across the State to submit an essay on a selected topic of New 

York legal history. The winning essays of 2009 and 2010 are presented in this publication. The winners, Dawar 
Jamal (2009), Queensborough Community College, and Leah Marie Reino (2010), Genesee Community 
College, each received a cash prize (as do second place winners), and are recognized at the Law Day ceremonies 
held at the New York Court of Appeals.

Oral History Project

Since history can be just as important when spoken as when written, we have embarked on an 
initiative to record the oral history of legal luminaries in this State. Each of these interviews has 
proved to be an intimate and informative exploration of our legal history by those who have 
lived it. To date, we have interviewed Judges Richard J. Bartlett, Joseph W. Bellacosa, Matthew 
J. Jasen, Milton Mollen, Albert M. Rosenblatt, Richard D. Simons, George Bundy Smith, and 
William Thompson, as well as Hazard Gillespie, Norman Goodman, and Michael McEneney.

Grant to Bard High School Early College

As part of our mission to educate youth on the role of the courts and the rule of law, the 
Trustees of the Society approved a grant to Bard High School Early College in 2010. We spon-
sored a one-week workshop in September, 2010 on the theme of justice and the courts, in-
volving all students from the 9th through 12th grades at two campuses (approximately 1,100 
students). Students visited courthouses and met with judges and court staff to learn about the 
operation of the courts from the inside.

Part of the grant funded curriculum development, and the teachers developed units of study 
exploring the role of the courts in adjudicating various public policy issues, such as the insti-

tution of marriage and same sex-marriage. Our aim is to have students gain a better understanding of the role 
of the courts through this deliberative process. We are now exploring with Bard an expansion of the curriculum 
development process to create flexible curriculum that can be taught to at-risk students throughout the State, 
and at the middle school level.                             
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SUBMISSIONS - Judicial Notice accepts  

article submissions on a continual basis  

throughout the year. We attempt to publish  

twice a year. Submissions are reviewed by  

members of the Board of Editors. Authors are  

not restricted from submitting to other journals 

simultaneously. Judicial Notice will consider 

papers on any topic relating to New York State’s 

legal history. Submissions should be mailed to  

the Executive Director.
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Courthouse Art

Albany County, Albany, The New York Court of Appeals

In conjunction with the 1958 renovation of Court of Appeals Hall, artist Eugene F. Savage was commissioned to design 
and paint a mural in the dome over the rotunda. His work depicts “the romance of the skies” emblematic of the three 
seasons in which the Court sits: Autumn, Winter and Spring. He also rendered the Great Seal of New York and the seal 
of the New York Court of Appeals. This image of Lady Justice is part of Savage’s depiction of the Great Seal of New York.
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People v. Croswell  l  Paul McGrath

Ballot Reform and the Election of 1891  l  David Sheridan

Charles David Breitel  l  W.B. Benkard
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